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Paul Mueller Conipany and Subsidiaries

Financial Highlights

Operating Results for the Year 2003 2002
"Nt SaIES eoe et i $116,766,000 - $ 114,149,000
<In‘com‘e'be'fore TaXeS..ooovvveiiieeeeereein. § 2,683;000 $- 2,836,000 ‘
- Provision for Income Taxes................... 664,000 967,000
Net Income................ s — © 0§ 2019000 $ 1,889,000
. Eamings per Common Share:- ) o o :
Basic..cooooiiiii s e $ 173 $ 1.62 [
Dl]uted ............................................... $ 1.71 :§ 161
 Dividends Declared per Share ..... S $7240. $ 2.40
Year-End Position _ .
o TOtRl ASSELS e TS 67,635,000 7§ 68,331,000 ]
Working Capital........ e e~ $ 10,723,000 $ 13,305,000 ’
~ Current Ratio............ e e e : 13401 1.47:1
" Net Worth.........iileeenns SRR e 529,247,000 $ 29,017,000
" Book Value per Share ...........ccoocenn... e $24.50 ' $24.49
. Common Shares Outstandmg ............... 1,193,771 . 1,185,071 °
Backlog ........... seesireee e TR o § 38,612,000 $ 54, 023, 000

J Paul Muelller Company = Sprimgfeld, Missourf




_ DANIEL C. MANNA
Pre51dent

- Dear Shareholder,
‘Sales for 2003 were $116,766,000 versus
“$114,149,000 for 2002 Net -income was
.$2,019,000 for 2003, or $1.71 per share, com-
pared to $1,889,000, or. $1 6l per share for
* the prior year.

-

" While our sales and e'arnings improved some-

* . what in 2003, we had high expectations for the  :

year and were disappointed with our financial
results, pamcularly in view of our strong start.
"For the first nine monthsy our sales were
$87,260,000, which was $9,500,000 better

than the comparable periodl'of 2002; and our -

‘net income was.$2,719,000, an improvement
0f$3,047,000 over the comparable period of

2002. However, during the fourth quarter, we .

-incurred a loss of $700,000 principally due to

‘the low plant workload at the Springfield facil-

ity and the lawsuit settlement discussed below.

During 2002, we achieved a significant in-
crease in order entry, largely on the strength

‘of our BioPharm Systems product line. This

resulted in a very favorable starting backlog of
- $54,023,000 for 2003, which included over
$37,100,000 for BioPharm ;Systems projects.
We were also -actively workmg with several

biopharmaceutical customers on major modu- -

“lar fabrication projects that'were planned for
" award in early to mid-2003.. Despite forecasts
of continuing sluggishness for industrial capi-
tal expenditures in general, we expected to
* book several more large biopharmaceutical
projects which- would have assured a favor-
able level of business activity well into 2005.

" With the favorable backlog; we generated
good financial performance in the first three -
- quarters of 2003. Quite unexpectedly, how-

ever, there was a slowdown last year in the
pharmaceutical industry, as the major biophar-
maceutical projects we were counting on book-
ing were either postponed or cancelled; and

our backlog declined as the year progressed. o
" Furthermore, as a result of a merger, one of our,

major customers decided in mid-year to put a
large pharmaceutical module order, which was

in active production, on indefinite hold. ' This " -
- was quite significant, as it reduced our sched-

uled shipments for the latter part of the year by
$4,400, 000 .

'Another key “factor in our- results for 2003 was

the uncharacteristically, low level of. order
entry and the resultant reduced profitability of

 our Dairy Farm Equipment segment. -This was-
. driven by unfavorable milk pricing, Wthh
" reached a 25- -year low in late 2002. ‘

‘The LIFO reservelis_ another noteworthy factor

when, compdring year-to-year results: .- During
2003, we experienced a significant increase in

- surchargés for stainléss steel and ended the
year with SJgniﬁcantly higher inventories due ’

to. several major projects that were not sche-

duled for completion until 2004, As'a result, .-
_ the LIFO reserve was increased by $1,386,000,

which reduced net income by $872,900." In
contrast, the LIFO reserve during 2002 was in-
creased by $37,000, which reduced net income

by only $23, 400

Additionally, our, results. for the year. were ad-

+ versely affected by a lawsuit settlement. A
- lawsuit against the Company was filed in May

2002 alleging breach of contract/breach of ex-
press wartanty in connection with the sale of a

"" heat exchanger in October of 2000. The plain-

tiff alleged in this suit that it had suffered direct,
consequential, and incidental damages in excess
of $3,100,000. We had the opportunity to set-

tle this suit in March of this year for a-total of
'$600,000, half of which was picked up by our-
© insurance carrier. While we believe we were
‘ot at fault, we chose to settle rather than incur

further legal expensé in defending against the

‘suit and risk a less favorable outcome. The set-

tlement of this suit had the effect of reducing
net income by $189,000, or $0.16 per share,
for the fourth quarter and the year.

“In reviewing our key business segments, sales:

and profitability of the Industrial Equipment
segment improved substantially during 2003.

- In contrast, the Dairy Farm Equipment and
" Field Fabrication segments experienced sig- -
" nificant reductions 1n both sales and prof-
. itabllity :

" The improved performance in the Industnal

Equipment segment was entirely attributable
to an increase of approximately $20,000,000 in
BioPharm Systems sales.
began the year with a backlog of $37,100,000

As mentioned, we -

of BioPharm Systems work, and much of it was
completed during the year. Sales of Processing
Equipment and Heat Transfer Products actually

-declined by about $6,400,000, reducing the net

increase in segment sales to only $13,140,000

over the prior year. This was still sufficient,

however, to boost pretax income for the Indus-
trial Equipment segment from 4 loss before tax
0f'$2,737,300 for 2002 to income before tax of

$1,347,200 for 2003.

" Sales of Dairy Farm Equipment'f(jr 2003

were $14,307,000, which représented a 29% -
decrease from the prior year. While the mar-

ket for Dairy Farm Equipment is typically.

quite cyclical, this was the lowest level of
sales we have generated since 1987. The poor

‘market conditions were .a ‘direct result of
. extremely low milk pricés in the second half of
"2002 and early 2003. In fact, the average milk

price ‘during the 12-month périod from July
2002 through June 2003 was at the lowest
level in the past 25 years. Although prices-

. began to recover in the second half of 2003,

most dairy farm operations- werc»ﬁnancially‘

_ stressed and in no position to invest in capital
Dairy Farm -

equipment during "the yéar.
Equipment sales_.ended the year $5,967,000

. less than the prior year, and income before tax-
- for the segment fell to $435,000 for 2003
; compared to $3,570,000 for thé prior year.

Poor market conditions also affected perform-

* ance of the Field Fabncation segment of our

business. There was a.marked absence of large
projects, as customers postponed major capital -

- expenditures and directed their available funds
toward essential plant maintenance and repair
. prOJects

The lack of available work also re-
sulted in extremely -competitive pricing, often
to such low levels that it made those projects
that were released for bid financially unat-
tractive. Compared to 2002, our order entry
declined by $15,836,000; and although we.
began the year with a starting backlog: for-the -
Field Fabrication segment of $5,503,000, the
extremely low level of order entry resulted in
sales of only $8,300,000 for 2003, which was

" 44% under 2002. As a result of the significant

decline in sales, the segment  generated a loss
before tax of $225,200 for 2003 compared to

income before tax of $1,181,800 for 2002.

In spite of the fact that we did not.achieve our
budgeted profitability for 2003, we did have.
some significant accomplishments during the
year with respect to the major BioPharm
Systems orders that we booked in late 2002 and
into 2003. During the course of the year, we
had four lafge modular projects in process,
along with two substantial projects for bio- -
reactor systems. -These major projects involved
extensive engineering and design activity,
which greatly exceeded our normal capacity.
To meet this challenge we relied heavily on
contract des1gners in order to process the work
in a timely manner. Also, all the projects were -
on relatively tight manufacturing schedules and




- the peak workload exceeded our normal capac-

ity for this type of work.

" As you may recall, we hired and trained a -

substantial number of employees during 2002
. tomeetthis need; but it was necessary.for us to

rely on subcontractors for specialty work, such -
-as eléctrical wiring and electronic installation.

. It'was a significant stretch for operations per-
*_sonnel to accomplish.the necessary planning,
logistics, training, manufacturing, and contract

administration activities necessary to efficient-

ly process all these projects concurrently and to
~meet the very demandmg expectanons of our
_.customers :

Despite rthese challenges, the projects shipped
on schedule and customer feedback has been
excellent in terms of quality and customer serv-
ice. As.a result, we have become a recognized
- leader in the design and manufacture of large
modular systems and have established our-

" selves as a competent supplier for hlghly com-

plex bioreactor systems.

Looking ahead to 2004, most reports suggest

that the economic growth rate will increase this

year and that industrial -capital- expenditures
" will rebound. Plant capacity utilization is ris-

ing; and with forecasts of improved corporate :
_ profitability, significant capital* projects that.
have been delayed for the past few years should -

* become available for bid. ‘This should have a
~_positive effect on both the Industrial Equip-
_ ment and the Field Fabrication segments of our
business.

In our Industrial Equipment segment, we do not

expect a large number of modular construction
or bioreactor projects to become available this
year. However, the overall activity level in our
 BioPharm sector is certainly higher than in

. other areas of our business; and we expect our

‘excellent performance on recently completed.

projects will make-us a supplier_of choice on

" those few major projects that do become avail- -

able. We are less optimistic regarding the
’potentlal for our Processing Equipment product
line; but we expect to see some improvement in
order entry during 2004, as’ we ‘have noted an

increase in the number of projects becoming .
available for quotation in the past few months.

Additionally, we hope to leverage our experi-

ence in the biopharmaceutical area by offering .
the concept of modular construction and com- -

plete systems fabrication to our food, dairy, and

beverage customers.” Order entry and sales of

Heat Transfer Products should also i mcrease as
the economy improves.

Better performance is also expected in the Dairy
.Farm Equipment segment for 2004, as milk
- prices have already recovered significantly from

the level of last year and are expected to further
- improve during the year. During the-first two

months of 2004, the milk price paid-to farmers

. has increased by 4% over the average price for

last 'year; -and there are additionél factors that
~ should help to maintain the price at a more
‘ acceptable level than during the prior year.

Consumptlon of darry products is projected to
" iricrease as the economy 1mproves and at the
same. tifne, milk production ‘is forecasted to

show little growth during 2004, The number of
dairy cows is expected to be down from the

" prior ‘year due to the insufficient number of
. replacement heifers as a result of the embargo
-of Canadian cattle. "Additionally, major dairy
cooperatives in this country introduced a pro-’

gram ‘during 2003 to reduce the number of
dairy cows; and this continuing effort is expect-
ed to have a considerable impact on reducing
milk production during 2004. Finally, feed

" prices are expected to be srgmﬁcantly higher
during 2004 compared to the prior year, which -
w1ll also’ contnbute to lower mrlk - production.

AFo_r the Field Fabrication segment, we foresee
greater opportunity ‘this year, assuming the
‘economy.continues to improve.- Many of the
projects on which we will bid during the year

. will involve both shop- and field-fabricated

tanks. We are particularly well.suited for these
projects, as we can combine the capabilities
of the Industrial Equipment; the F icld Fabri-
cation, and the Transportation segments 10 pro-
vide a one-stop solution for the customer.

Although the €conomic outlook for 2004 is
more favorable than it was a year ago, it’is. .
- apparent that 2004 will still present significant
challenges. We began the current year with a’

backlog of $38,612,000, which is $15,411,000

less than the beginning backlog for 2003.

Additionally, due to the shortfall in 2003 order
entry, our workload is particularly low for some

~ product lines within the Industrial Equipment’
segment. In-order to retain our workforce and
those employees that we hired and trained dur- -

ing 2002, we have implemented a four-day
workweek at our Springfield facility. This pro-

gram is intended to reduce our capacity until we -

can fill the gap in our workload that occurred
due 10 the order entry shortfall in 2003

‘Another item of particular concem is the esca-

lation in the price of both stainless and carbon
steel. The mills have been assessing surcharges
due: to 'the volatility in the price of nickel,
chrome, and molybdenum, which are key ele-

‘ments used in the production of stainless steel.

Surcharges for April 2004 have increased our

normal cost for types 304 and 316 stainless, the - R )
< March.2004 -

most common grades of stainless steel we pur-
chase, by $0.57 per pound and $0.78 per pound,

Tespectively.. Prices for carbon steel have risen
 even more dramatically, approximately dou-

bling in the last six months. This will have a

" .dampening effect on the number of new busi-
.ness. opportunities this year and will put pres:
‘sure on our margins as_custombers resist price

increases. necessitated by our higher costs for
steel.

Our current labor contract with the Sheet Metal

-, Workers International Association — Local 208
“will expire on April 7, 2004; and negotiation

of a new agreement began this March. We -
have an excellent workforce, and I believe

. our relationship with plant employees can be

fairly characterized as one of trust-and mutual
respect. Accordingly, we expect to reach agree-
ment on a new contract on a timely basis.

The most.positive factor affécting our financial
performance is the progress we have made in
greatly expanding our product offermg to the
biopharmaceutical industry and in building.

‘strong performance-based relationships with a

number of key pharmaceutical companies and
engineering firms. While the pace of new facil-

-ities approval has slowed over the last year or

s0, we view the biopharmaceutical industry. as

. a strong market over the next several years that

will offer us considerable opportunity for prof- :
1table business grovwth.

In summary, our 2003 earnings incréased some-
what from the prior year, but we were certainly
not pleased with our level of profitability:
Economic forecasts for 2004 are generally .
favorable and-a trend of increasing capital
expenditures for néw plant and equipment is’
expected, which should provide us with greater
opportunity for new business this year. We are

" initially encouraged that order entry is in line
. with budget thus far, and we are beginning to

see increased activity m some of the markets
that we serve. -

In any 'event, we have begun the year with' a
significantly lower backlog and are currently
operating well under capacity. -Although we-
expect our level of activity will increase as the

“year progresses, we have gotten off to a slow

start in the early part of 2004, which will have
to be overcome in-the latter quarters of the-
year '

The contmued support of our shareholders is
appreciated and has served to strengthen the -
commitment and resolve of the entire manage-

‘ment team and all employees of the, Company

to strive for future growth and more: acceptable

* financial performance.

) ‘ Daruel C. Manna-
President
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‘Paul Mueller Company and Subsidi_aries g

- Corporate Profile - !

Paul Mueller Company; headquartered in Springfield, Missouri, Was incorporated in 1946. For over half
a century, we have been building a reputation as a manufacturer of ‘high-quality stamless steel tanks and
industrial processmg equipment that make the customer s.process smoother, faster, and more reliable. Our *
i ~jphllosophy is simple: we are committed to meeting and exceedlng our customer’s expectatlons of value by -

' provrdmg qual1ty equlpment and exeellent serv1ce ' e

Paul Mueller Company has grown to occupy. about 950 000 square feet of manufacturmg space in two manu- -
facturing facilities located in Springfield, Missouri, and Osceola, lowa. “Mueller products are used in'over
100 countries Worldw1de on dairy farms and in a. wide variety of industrial apphcatlons mcludmg food; dairy,
and beverage processmg, pharmaceut1cal b1otechnolog1cal and chemlcal processmg, water drstrllatmn heat
transfer; HVAC; heat recovery, process cooling; and thermal energy storage

- Field fabrrcatron erect1on and 1nstallat1on services are- provrded by Muelle’r Field Operations, Inc.,-a wholly
;owned subs1d1ary Transportat1on of the Compames products and backhauls of material and components
are handled by another wholly owned subsrdrary, Mueller Transportation, Inc. Mueller Montafia de México,
SA. de C V,a 50%-owned Jomt venture, provrdes a présence for industrial equipment in the Mex1can market.
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Paul Mueller Company and Subsidiaries
.~ -~~~ - - = e R ]
Consolidated Statements of Income '

For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

2003 2002. 2001

Net Sales ...... ..................... e ......... $ 116766018 § 114149434 - 94,288,219
Cost of Sales ...... e R R S 93177115 91.432,774 78,071,436
Gross profit............. ................. e e - BE 23,583,903 8 22,716,660 ' $ 16,216,783

: Selling, Gén‘eral aﬁd Administrétive _Expeﬁses .......................... o 2’],37‘0,524 - | 20,278,938 -18,912,525
Operating.intcome (10SS) v ......... | $ | 2,2‘18,379 | $ 2,437,722 $‘ (2,695,742)

Other Income”(Expér-lse): - | | _ ‘ |
Interest inqome............;- ........ S .......... R $ 78,148 $. 89,269 $ 199;079

Interest eXPense ........occcceiiiiniiiicciiie e PO . (82,700) (25,955) (25,218)
OMBET, M v o 459,770 © 350,186 306,045

§ 455218 $ 413,500 $ 479,906

Income (losé) before prbvision (benefit)

for income taxes ............... et e $ . 2,673,597v' § 2,8:51,222 $ (2,215,836) ;
Provision (Benefit) for Income TAXES. ...t e e _ 664000 - 967,000 (955,000)
~ Income (Loss) before Equity in o ) s . |
~ Income (Loss) of Joint Venture ........................................ '$ 2,009,597 $ 1,884,222 $ " (1,260,836)
Equlty in Income (Loss) of Joint Venture...... . ..... ...... IR 8,956 4,936 ‘ (99,004)
Net Income (Loss)........_.‘.......ﬁ‘....'........." .............................. $-. V2,018,553 » $ 1,889;158 © % (1,359,840)

: Ea'rnings.(Loss) per Common Share:

$(116)
$(1.16)

=
= @,
-
I
o_.
@ oA
e
W
B By
w o
o O
— 2

"The acéompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.



Paul Mueller Company and Subsidiaries

v - .

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2003 and 2002

Assets -

Current Assets: - ‘ . _
- Cash and cash equivalents ..................... s e s e
Accounts receivable, less reserve -for doubtful

accounts of!$951,981 for 2003 and $932,743 for 2002..... et . ’
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings................... e s o

Inventories: Raw ‘materlals and components

WOTK-In-ProCess. ........vveivvemrienrrernncs SRRSO e,

leshedgoods .......................................... ORI OO U
Prepayments...l.'...; .............................................. s eerensbeen s s ieseeeenmnnes

Property, Plant and Equlpment (at cost): ‘
Land and 1and improVements. ...........oo..ov.voreeeeeeeeoereeeesresessresenes v s

Buildings............ SOOI OUU IO VORI e -

Fabrication equipment ..................... e ettt e

Transportatlon oﬁﬁce and other equlpment

‘ Construction- m-progress...-; ......................................... e rieenenins i

Less: Accumulated depreciation ... .o..cooecrinererecennnsennnecen. e sgpenens

Other ASSELS...../ceocrrsiecrscrsserssrresec s e i
Deferred Taxes : : .

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Investment
Current Liabilities; ) ) . S ,
Short-term bank borrowmg ......... b
Current maturities of long-term debt e e
_ Accounts payable........c..c.o...n., et ehe et ebe et re et eyt et et ne et aenre et be e e ae e [T
* Accrued expenses$ — L _ o ‘
" INCOME tAXES...vovvevviieeevrees i i et et e et '
Payroll and benefits , i ,
~ Vacations ...l e e ST RO

Advance billings. ‘ .................... e
Billings in excess of costs and estlmated CAIMINGS ..eovivnirirceiinreriene

Total Current Liabilities .................... e SR ‘

Long-Term Pension Liabilities .:................c......... s et e,

Other Long-Term Liabilities..................c.ccooooiiinin, e '

Contingencies.....:.0...cooooociiienncince e e ettt et ea e e e be tresae s s anaarnin

Shareholders’ Investment:
Common stock, par value $1 per share Authorized 20,000,000 shares -

. Issued 1,369,475 shares for 2003 and 1,360,775 shares for 2002................. '
. Preferred stock par value $1 per share Authorized 1 000,000 shares— -

) No sharesfissued.......c...ccoeesovoeiininrienneen, ettt
Paid-in surplus .ol RN e
_Retained earmngs......................;.' ............. s AU L
Less: Treasury stock, 175,704 shares for 2003 and 2002 at cost ................................

" Deferred compensatlon ....................................................... e e neeeenen

. Accumulated other comprehensive loss ...... PRSP SRR

o
i

2003

S 2,887471

17,129,082
2,176,135

" § 8981914

6,034,912
2,282,026

$ 17,298,852

3,034,483

$ 42,526,023 -

$ 3,719,255
14,700,713

39,484,000
13,070,556
__ 121618
$ 71,096,142
50,042,119
$ 21,054,003
2,321,991
1,752,823

$ 67,654,860 -

2 3

567,000
4280315

903,884

6.964,260 -
. 2,896,588 -
1,553,196

14,176,469
460,970

$ 31,802,682

5,612,474
992,208

$ 1369475

5,154,090

31,019,095

. 37542660 -

2,593,447
479,992
5,221,725

$ 29,247,496
$.67,654,860

'The accqmpenying notes are an integral part of these consolidated balance sheets

2002

S 702,106

22,977,231
2,994,932

§ 8,093,587
2,952,701
1,282,955

$ 12,329,243
2,682,619

 $41,686,131

$ 3,602,420
14,134,034
38,588,237
12,355,976

752,385

$ 69,433,052 .
47,238,838

§ 22,194,214

2,401,268
2,049,143

 $68.330.756

- $ 4,183,155

~ 517,000
17,041,636

1,510,811
3,267,118 -
2,820,646
1,314,869
7,701,000
. 25,000

$.28.381,235

9,328,207
1,604,566

$ 1,360,775

4,858,290
31,860,372

- $38,079,437

2,593,447
322,229
6,147,013

§ 29,016,748
$ 68,330.756




Paul Mueller Company and Subsi’diaries o
. ~Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Investment
,For the Years Ended December 31,2003, 2002, and 2001

Accumulated

_ = o " Deferred  Other Com-
Common . Paid-in = Retained - Treasury - Compen- prehensive
Stock Surplus - Earnings Stock sation Loss Total

Balance¥12431;2000... § 1,348,325 § 4,493,932 § 36,999,955 $‘(2,561,987) $ (126,588) % ‘(41,58‘1) $40,112,056
Add (Deduct): » E o ) ' . : ‘ :
Net.(loss)......... e - - ‘ : - ’ (1,359,840) : - . - - {1,359,340)

Other comprehensive
loss, net of tax: .

Unrealized net gain , oo ‘ : ‘ - i
on investments........ : - c - - = = 16,361 16,361

Foreign currency trans- . : . ‘ . .
lation adjustment.... — » = = - ' - - 25,316 25,316
Change in minimum - - : ' : o : o
pension liability..:.. o= : - - o= Co- : - . . (68,889) (68,889)

A Comprehensive (loss)....

_ L o - $ (1,387,052)
~ Dividends, $2.40 '

~ per common share..... - B (2,827,730) - - - (2,827,730
" Restricted stock issued .. 6,000 168,000 I (174,000) = - :
Amortization ................. - ' - ) - ’ — 66,050 - 66,050 .
Balance — 12-31-2001 ... $- 1,354,325 - $ 4,661,932 $32,812,385 $(2,561,987) § (234,538) §  (68,793) $35,963,324
Add (Deduct): [ o : ' '
Net income............ S - 1889188 .. - - - 1,889,158
Other comprehensive : i ' '
loss, net of tax:
Foreign currency trans- - o : ' ' S
lation adjustment.... —— - ‘ - - = (67,718) (67,718)
Change in minimum , o : g '
pension liability...... _t o - - - (6,010,502)  (6,010,502)

Comprehensive (loss)....

B - - - $ (4,189,062)
Dividends, $2.40 :

2,841,171) - -

per common share..... L . - : - - (2,841,171) -
Restricted stock issued .. © 6,450 199,124 - N - . ©(205,584) . - - -
Restricted stock : - ' o o '
forfeiture. ..o~ (2,776) - (31460)° 22235 - (12,001)
Amortization ................. - - - - = , 95,658 - - : 95,658
Balance — 12-31-2002 ... $ 1,360,775 "% 4,858,290 §31,860,372 § (2,593,447) § (322,229) $ (6,147,013) $29,016,748
Add (Deduct): o o : o R - S :
Netincome..l.riee - = " = . 2,018,553 e = -, + 2,018,553
" . Other comprehensive ‘ o :
income, net of tax:
Foreign currency trans- S I ' o ,
lation adjustment.... - - = - = (37,506) - (37,506)
Change in minimum . ‘ : : ‘ '
pension liability..... - - - - - . 962,794 962,794
Comprehensive income... - = .- - - ' - § 2,943,841
Dividends, $2.40 : o ‘ : :
per common share..... - - (2,859,830) - B - _ - (2,859,830)
Restricted stock issued .. 8,700 295,800 - ' - - (304,500) - T ’
Amortization ................. - - - ' - 146,737 - - 146,737

Balance - 12-31-2003 .. $_ 1,369,475 $ 5,154,090 $31,019,095 $ (2,593,447) §_(479,992) $ (5,221,725) $ 29,247,496

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements. -

T



Paul Mueller Company and Subsidiaries.

Consolldated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended Decembcr 31, 2003, 2@02 and lelll

Cash Flows from _()perzzltlng Activities:

Net inCOME (10SS)..vucvvvririertririeeeieseieeeeeesties s ees s o

‘Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to
net cash prov1ded by operating activities:

Equity in (mcome) loss ofjomt VETUTE oot -
Bad debt expense ..., SRR

‘Depreciation and amortization.........c......cccoovevorevenninn. g

(Gain) loss on sales of equipment.........cc....cevveinnnees -

Changes inlassets and liabilities — L
Decrease in interest recelvable .............................
. Decrease (increase) in accounts and

notes receivable......vicrioinnias e -

Decrease (increase) in costs'in excess

of estimated earnings and billings .........c......
(Increase) decrease in inventories........ e .

(Incr‘\ease) in Prepayments ........cooovirieiivnenn, e
(Increase) decrease in other assets ............cc......

" (Increase) decrease in deferred tAXES ..o, ,
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable.............. R
Increase in accrued expenses ............ v

- Increase in advance billings...........cc.ccccvveeece.
“Increase in billings in excess of

costs and estimated earnings..............c.ccccuenee.

(Decrease) increase in other long- -term liabilities ..

- Net Cash Provided by
' Operating Activities ............. RN ‘

Cash Flows (Requirements) from Investing Activities: -

Proceeds from maturities of investments .............c.coccccevne. R

Purchases of investments..............;......:.: ..........
- Proceeds from sales of equipment ’ : :
Addmons to property, plant, and equipment ..............cccoo....ie.

i, . Net Cash (Required) by
Investmg Activities ...L.......... JRT -

Cash Flow (Requnrements) Provisions from Fmancmg ACthltlES:
Short-term bank Qrepayment) BOITOWING ..ol e deerenens

Long-term debt proceeds ...... et rreeeecenees S -

Repayment of long-term debt.......... S A

’ D1v1dendspald...;.....................; .............................. il

- Net Cash (Requrred) Prov1ded

" Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents ..... o

‘Cash and Cash E(juiv.a;lent,s at Beginning of Year ........ e '

" Cash and Cash E_quivajlents'at End of Year.............. foemrsereierneins

i ‘by Financing Activities ........... prrereais

.8 (4,183,155)

(417,000)
(2,859,830)

$ 4,183,155
1,251,000
(104,250)
(2,841,171)

2003 2002 2001
'$:2018553  § 1,889,158 - $ (1,359,840)
. (8.956) (4.936) 199,004
246,026 © 469,181 107,818
4,037,461 3,429,006 3,134,742
(18,514) 5,260 . (42,760)
- = 680
5,602,123 . (6,144,218) 1,472,682
818,797 (2,994,932) - :
(4,969,609) (2,765,321) 2,429,523
(351,864) (515,252) (520,152) -
(181,079) 2,461,043 (117,208)
(220.891) - 1,530,476 53,702
(@761,321) 2,616,983 . (95,000)
3,404,484 954871 764,990
6,475,469 2,126,958 1,644,204 .
435,970 25,000, -
(2,149.280) (2,038379) 515,344
$12377369 S 1,044,898 -§ 8,087,729 -
s - $ 1,000,000 $ 607,194
~ (1,000,000 -
42350 1,607 290,358
(2774,369)  _ (4,754,029) (4,904,096)
$ (2,732,019) (4,752422) $ (4,006,544)

(2,827.730)

$ (7, 459 985)

§ 2,488,734

(2.827.730)

s 2,18‘5365 ‘

702,106

$ (1,218,790)

1,920,896

&

1,253,455

667,441

§ 702,106

$

1,920,896

8 2.887471

The accompanying notes are an integral part:of theseconsolidated statements.




Paul Mueller Company and Subsidiaries | _ ,
. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements -
December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001

[ Summary of AcCOunting Policies:

Principles of Consohdatlon and Lines of Business — The ﬁnanc1a1 statements include the accounts

of Paul Mueller Company ("Company") and its wholly éwned subsidiaries: Mueller Transportation,

. Inc., and Mueller Field Operations, Inc. ("Companies"). The dissolution of Mueller International Sales

s Corporatlon a wholly owned Foreign Sales Corporation ("FSC"), was completed on July 27, 2001. All

51gn1ﬁcant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company

specializes in the manufacture of high= quality stainless steel tanks and industrial processing equipment.

The Company serves the food, dairy, beverage chemical, pharmaceutrcal blotechnologlcal and other
_process industries, and the dalry farm market

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformtty with-generally accepted ’

accounting principles, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

- amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the

- financial statements; and the reported amounts of revénues and expenses durlng the reportmg perlod
Actual results may differ from those estlmates .

J omt Venture — On August 17 1999 the Company estabhshed a joint venture when it acqu1red 50%
of the common stock of Mueller Montana de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. ("Mueller Montafia"), a Mexican
fabricator of industrial equipment, for a price.of $1, 083 000. One-half of the price was a contribution -
to the capital of Mueller Montafia for the benefit of all shareholders and the balance was paid to former
shareholders. The investment Is accounted for under the equity method and i is included in other assets

- on the Consolidated Balance Sheets :

Revenue Recognition and Retalnages — Revenue from sales of fabricated products is recognized
upon passage of title to the customer. Passage of title may occur at the time of shipment from the
Company's dock, at the time of delivery to the customer's location, or when projects are completed
in the field and. accepted by the customer. ‘For large multi-unit prOJects that are fabricated in the plant,
revenue is recognized under the units-of-delivery method, which is a modification of the percentage-of-
completion method of accounting for contracts. The units-of- dehvery method recognizes as revenue the
contract price of units completed and shipped or delivered to the customer (as determined by the contract)
or completed and accepted by the customer for field-fabrication projects. The applicable manufactur- -
ing cost of each unit is identified and charged to cost of sales as revenue is recogmzed

Revenues from long term contracts that involve only a few dehverables and that meet the require-
_ments of Statement of Position 81-1, "Atcounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain
Production-Type Contracts," are recogmzed under the percentage- of—completron method of accounting.

- For plant-fabricated prOJects percentage of completion is determined by comparing total manufacturing
~ hours incurred to date for each project-to estimated total manufacturing hours for each project. For field-
- fabricated projects, percentage of completion is determined by comparing costs incurred to date for each
contract to.the estimated. total costs for each contract at completion. Estimates of total manufacturing
hours and total contract costs for relevant contracts are reviewed continually and, if necessary, updated to
properly state the estimates. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the
period in which such losses are determined. ‘Costs and estimated earnings in eéxcess of billings on uncom-
.pleted contracts arise when costs have been incurred and revenues have been recorded, but the amounts

- are not yet billable under the terms of the contracts.- Such amounts are recoverable from customers upon
various measures of performance, including achievement of certain milestones; completion of specified
units, or completion of the contract: Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted



© contracts arise as a result of advance and progress b1llmgs on contracts. Costs and estimated earnings
- on uncompleted contracts and related amounts billed as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, were as follows:

| o 2003 - 2002
Costs 1ncurred on uncompleted CONLLACES .ovvrveveircniinnnes ST S 36,845,408 . $ 18,651,104
-Estimated earnmgs et e e et e 12,562,790 . 6,381,035 .
' ‘ ' L < - $ 49,408,198 - $ 25,032,139
L‘ess: Billings.to date.........cooonviiiiiinins e P 47,693,033 . 22,062,207

$§ 1,715,165 -~ §. 2,969,932

Amounts mcluded in the accompanymg Consohdated Balance Sheets at December 31,2003 and 2002
under the followmg captions, were: :

2003 - j‘ 2002

‘Costs and estlmated earnings in excess of " R o )
brllmgs on uncompleted CONMFACES.cevvreeseereeenee et - $.2,176,135° . . $ 2,994,932
- Billings in excess of costs and estimated eammgs R '
on uncompleted contracts .................................. (460,970) - (25,000)

$ 1,715,165 $ 2,969,932

‘Costs'and estimated earnings in excess of billings and billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings |

_relate to contracts in progress and are included in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as

. current assets and current liabilities, respectrvely, as they will be liquidated in the normal course of con- -
tract complet1on although complet10n may requrre more than one year - :

| Contracts wrth some customers prov1de for a portion of the sales amount to be retained by the customer
for a period of trme after completion of the contract. Retainages included-in Accounts Receivable were
, $336 000 at December 31, 2003 and ' $760, 200 at December 31, 2002 ’ ,

Inventories —{ The Company S 1nventor1es are recorded at the lower of cost on a last-in, ﬁrst out g
("LIFO") basis;or market. Cost of subsidiary inventories is determined on a first-in, first-out ("FIFQ") .
méthod; and they are not significant to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Cost includes material,
labor, and manufacturmg burden required in the-production of products. ’ 2

‘ Under the FIFO method of accounting, whrch approximates current cost, Company mventones would
have_ been $7,298,449, $5,912,846, and $5,873 528 h1gher than those reported at December 31,2003,
' 2002, and 200l respectlvely ‘

Research and Development - Research and development expenses are: charged to expense as incurred
and were $1, 024 800 dur1ng 2003, $l 103 800 durmg 2002, and $981, 600 durmg 2001 ,

R Deprecnatlon Pohcres —-The Compames provrde for deprec1at10n expense usmg pr1nc1pally the double-
declining- balarice method for new items and the- straight-line method for used items. "The economic -
useful lives for the more srgnlﬁcant items w1th1n each property classrﬁcatlon are as follows

_ o ‘ Years
T BUAINGS 40
‘ -Land improvements ................. e e . 10-20
; Fabrication equipment ................... R T 5~10
‘ . Transportatlon office, and other equlpment ........ A . 3-10
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Mamtenance and repalrs are charged to expense as incurred.. The cost and accumulated depreciation
_-of assets retired are removed from the accounts -and any resultmg gams or losses are reﬂected in net
“income currently : ,
Impairment of Plant and Equlpment ~ If facts and c1rcumstances indicate that the carrying value of -
" identifiable plant and equipment may be impaired, the Company.would perform an evaluation of recov-
erablhty If an evaluation were required, the Company would compare the estimated future undiscounted
cash flows associated w1th the asset to the asset’ carrylng amount to determme if a write-down is
requlred :

Earnmgs per Common Share = The followmg table sets forth the computatlon of ba51c and d1luted
earnings per common share: . .

- S S 203 2002 2001

Net income (1088) oottt 82,018,553 $_ 1,889,158 ' § (1,359,840)
Shares for basic earnings per common share — ) R - - :
] Weighted-average shares outstanding ............. - 1,168,021 1,168,021 "~ 1,168,021
Dilutive effect of restricted stock _ _ o - _ : o
and stock options.................... ST oo 12,1300 5,395 - R
Shares for diluted earnings per common share — . ‘ , )
AdJusted weighted- average shares outstandmg.._. 1,180,151 . L173416 - 1,168,021
" Earnings (loss) per common share: : - _ o
BaSiC ...l et S L7300 § 1,62 $(1.16)
‘Diluted ..o foecrgsermsnnaisiens ciseenasinionsd P T A $ 161 $(-l 16)

Stock-Based Compensatlon —- As of December 31 2003 the Company had two stock based com- -
‘pensation plans for employees and non-employee dlrectors which are described more fully in Note (8).
The Company accounts for those plans under the recognition and measurement pr1nc1ples of Accounting
Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related inter--

* pretations. No stock-based compensation-cost has been reflected in net income, as all options granted
under those plans had an exercise price equal to or greater than the market value of the underlying com- .
mon stock on the date of the grants. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings |
per share if the Company had applied the fair value récognition provisions of Statement of Financial -
Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 123, ”Accountmg for Stock Based Compensatxon " to stock-based
employee and non- employee d1rector compensatlon '

Year Ended December 31

A 2003 2002 2001
"Net income (l0ss), a5 reported ...........crvern 0§ 2018553 1,889,158 . § (1,359,840)
~ Less: Stock-based compensation expense : S :
" determined under fair-value-based method o X ‘ ‘
for all awards, net of related tax. oo - 66,455 - 51,127 . 37,024
Pro forma net income (loss) ........... el - 871,952,098 ) - $ 1,838,031 $ (1,396,864)
. Earnings (loss) per commonshare: ‘ ’ ' _
 ‘Basic'— as reported ... oo, $1.73: " $1.62 $(1.16) -
Basic — Pro forma .........c.oooovenciciviueinnns '$ 1.67 $ 1.57 $(1.20)
' Diluted — as reported ..........ccc...ooevceervonn. - $ 1.71 $ 1.61 ©$(1.16)
Diluted — pro forma ............c..... RSN $ 1.65 ‘$.1.57 $(1.20)

1t



Comprehenswe Income — The components of comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended
December 31, 2003 2002, and 2001 ‘were as follows: -

2003 2002 . 20001

Unrealized net gain ON INVESIMEeNtS.....c.cooeecvrnnns S = I SN R $ 25,970
Tax prov1s1on....................................r....'.....‘ .......... S = : L= 9,609
Unrealized net gain on investments, net of tax .... . § - § - - - 8 16,361
- Foreign currency translation adjustment............:.. 8 (59,533) - $ (107,490) $ . 40,185
Tax (beneﬁt) PrOVISION .iviniee i et (22,027)" (39,772 ’ 14,869
Foreign currency translation adjustment, R , - s
net oftax...: .................................................... : $ (37506) - § - (67,718) - § 25,316
‘Change in thinimum pension liability .......ccoo... - % 1,528,244 $ (9,540,479) S (109,348)..
Tax prov1510n (benefit) ..o S 565,450 - (3,529,977 - . - (40,459)
Change in minimum pension liability, net of tax .. § 962,794 - $ (6,010,502) $ (68,889)
Other comprehenswe income (loss) ...... el 5 925288 $ (6,078,220) (27,212)

Statements of Cash Flows - For purposes of the Consohdated Statements of Cash Flows the Company
consrders 1nvestments with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Interest and income tax. payments for each of the three years durlng the perlod ended December 31,
2003, were as follows A

| 2003 o2002 2001

TREIESt PAVINETS ..o..vreerveve oo ©$ 80,0000 - $ 24900 S 25200
Income tax payments ........... BSOSO NO $ 1, 868'000 $ 52,400 $ 129,200

Shareholders’ Investment — The followmg table sets forth the analysrs of common stock issued and
held as treasury stock ~

. . Shares. .
! : : , Common . Treasury
) ‘ , v - . Stock Issued - Stock
Balance Deeember 31,2000 ... O OO SR SOOTOT ' 1,348,325 ' 174,604
_ Restricted istock issued.......... ST RS PR : 6,000 - = :
Balance, December 31, 2001 R ‘» e 1,354,325 - 174,604
Restricted |stock issued ............... e STV SOOI 6,450 L=
Restricted stock forfeiture . ' L _ 1,100
Balance, December 31, 2002 i . 1,360,775 . 175,704
ReStricted Stock iSSUed ..., ST T SO ‘ .~ 8,700 - -
Balance, December 31,2003 e e Lo 1,369,475 - : 175,704

Reclassﬁ'lcatlon — Cértain reclassrﬁcanons 02002 amounts have been made to conform with the 2003
ﬁnanmal statement presentatlon -

(2) Retirement Plans

, The Company has a Proﬁt Sharing and Reétirement Savmgs Plan [40l(k) plan] in which substantially all
employees are eligible to participate. The plan provides for-a match of employees’ contributions up to a
specified limit; The plan also has a profit-sharing feature whereby an additional match is made if net income
-reaches predetermmed levels established annually by the Board of Directors. The assets of the plan are
deposited with a trustee and are invested at the employee’s option in one or more investment funds. Total
Company contributions to the plan were $382,000 for 2003, $395,000 for 2002, and $381,000 for 2001.

l

12




The Company has pension plans.\ covering substantially all employees Benefits under the plans are
based elther on final average pay or a flat benefit formula R L
Total pension expense under the plans was 32, 337 ,900 for 2003 $1,278, OOO for 2002 and $908,100 for
2001. Management’s policy is to fund pension. contributions that are currently deductible for tax pur-
poses. A contribution of $4,315,500 will be made during 2004, and the amount has been included in
accrued expenses on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets The Company uses a December 31

measurement date for its plans.

" The following table sets forth the required dis_élosures for the pension 'plans at December 31;

: Change in Benefit Obhgatlon -

2003

2002

$ 47,218,400

$ 41,122,600

Benefit obligation at begmnmg ofyear,.: ...... e

Service cost......ccooverinnn. e, e e 1,564,600 . 1,335,100
Interest cost............. SUURS S SO USROS T OO PUP ST e 3,123,500 2,923,300
Actuarial 108S....ccooivivenn i USROS, NUUIUR e Coe 3,323,500 3,506,100
Benefits paid and expenses ...l ST e (1,759,300) (1,668,700)

Benefit obligation atend of year............... [RETOTRS e )

.-Change in Plan Assets — ,
Fair value of plan assets at begmmng of year....-.~;..................’....

Actual return on plan assets 6,676,100 (3,211,200) .

~ Employer contribution.........c..cooi, e, 915,400 1,122,900
Benefits paid and expenses . ©(1,759,300) (1,668,700)
Fa1r value ofplan assets at end ofyear.......................;...‘..._.l..;... $ 38,349,900 - $ 32,517,700

Reconcﬂlatlon - o . . : , _

Funded Status ... o.cooooveivie e TR e e " .$(15,120,800) $(14,700,700)

~ Unrecognized net actuarial 108s........coooevniiiiinnd SR , 13,256,700 14,042,200 .
Unrecognized prior service cost.......... e A S 887,100 . 1,104,100 |
Minimum liability adjustment ..ol _ (8,951,000) _(10,689,000)

(Accrued)beneﬁtcost ..... SO U U VORI OTU BRSPS

- $ 53,470,700

$ 32,517,700

$ 47,218,400

- $.36,274,700

$ (9,928,000)

$(10,243,400)

Amounts recognlzed in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31 were as follows:

» 2003 2002
Balance Sheet Reconciliation.— = . L : :

(Accrued) benefit cost ....... ST SO UP U PO eveenenes $ (9,928,000) .$(10,243,400)
Minimum pension Hability ..........iccceicrininennn, JUUTPTIRTR (8,951,000) (10,689,000)

© Intangible asset ... 829,400 1,039,200
Accumulated other comprehenswe loss (pretax) e 8,121,600 9,649,800 -
(Accrued) benefit cost ............ et $ (9,928,000) $(10,243,400)

Components of pension expense for the three years were: ‘

_ ' - . 2003 2002 2001
Service cost .......civvni.n. e n s : —— .S 1,564,600 $. 1,335,100 ) 1,177;500
Interest COSt........cooovvveveiiiiieeniei, ST 3,123,500 2,923,300 2,776,500 :
Expected return on plan assets.......... ................. (2,943,200) - " (3,199,100) (3,155,300) -
Amortization of transition (asset) :........cccuvvrvccnne - : - : . (109,400)
‘Amortization of prior service cost.................. s 217,000 218,700 220,200. .
Recognized net actuarial loss (gam)‘......,....‘ ......... .. 376,000 - (1,400)
Pension eXpense ........cooovveivniieeeinne s e $ 2,337,900 $ 1,278,000 $  908;100
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- Accumulated benefit obligations of the pens1on plans were. in excess of plan assets at December 31 as
follows ' .

) _ a2
Projected|benefit obligations.......... s e s SR 53,47(‘),7.00‘ $47,2l8,40‘0 .
Accumuléted‘beneﬁt OblIgAtioNS ....oocvvl e $ 48,044,800 $ 42,564,200
Fair Value of plan assets..........-...........................i ..... et 838349900 8 32,517, 700

~ The increase (decrease) in minimum lrabrlrty net of tax mcluded in other comprehenswe mcome/loss
, for each year| was as follows ' :

‘ » . » , - 2003 _ 2002
(Decrease) increase ......... - ...... e e s $ (962 800) $ 6010500

: ‘Werghted average assumpt10ns used to determlne beneﬁt obl1gat10ns at December 31 were as follows

| | R g 2003 2002
DiSCOUNE FR1E .o ettt 600% 6.50%
. Rate of compensatlon increase....... S OO U 4 25% T 4.05%,

Werghted—average assumptlons used to detennme net penodlc beneﬁt cost for the years ended December 31
- were as follows ' /

2003 ;-

 DISCOUNE FA1E ot SR O 650% - 7:00%
Expected long term return on plan assets ..o PR TON S 8.00% - 8.50%
* Rate of compensatron increase.......... ..... ORI 4. 25% " 4.25% -

Pensron expense is calculated based upon a number of actuanal assumptions establ1shed on January - l of ,

~“the. appllcablel year; detailed in the table above, including the weighted-average discount rate, rate of
increase in future:compensation levels for the applrcable plan, and the expected long-term rate of return
on plan assets: The discount rate used by the Company for valumg pension liabilities is based-on review

~of high quahty corporate bond yields with maturities approximating the remaining life of the projected -

benefit obligations. The discount rate used to determine pension expense-was reduced from 7.0% to 6.5%

for 2003. The leffect of the rate reduction was to increase pension expense by $456,000 for 2003. In devel--

" oping the expected long-term rate of return assumption for plan assets (which consist mainly of U.S. equity

" and fixed income securities), input was considered from the actuaries and the investment advisor. The rate
is intended to reflect the average rate of earnings expected to be earned on the funds invested or to-be -

invested to provide plan benefits. In determining the rate, appropriate consideration was given to histori-
cal performance of the major dsset classes held or anticipated to be held by the plans and the forecast for

future rates of return for those asset classes. The long-term rate of return assumption-was reduced from

8.5% for 20021 lto 8. 0% for 2003. This had the effect of i mcreasmg pens1on expense for 2003 by $184,000.

' .The werghted average asset allocatrons of the pens1on benefrt plans at December 3l were as follows

, i' 2003 .. .2002 - .
Asset Cate‘gory: , e _ o .
FAXed INCOME ..oo.reieeie et CO32% . "36%
"~ Equities........o.o...... FRUPROR RSO SRRSOy oot aiea 66% . 60%
Other.......co..... O SO F OSSN e e, o T2% L 4%

100% . _100%
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- The long-term asset allocation on average will approx1mate 60% in equities, with 40% in ﬁxed income

securities. The objective, on a long-term basis, is to-achieve an excess return over the actuarial assurip-

tion for the expected long-term rate. of return on plan assets. The investment strategy employed is a

long-term risk: control approach using diversified investment options with no exposure to volatile
investment optlons such as financial futures, derivatives, etc. The plans use a diversified allocation of
equity and fixed income securities that is customlzed to each plan’s cash flow benefit needs.

TIncome Taxes:

. The prov1510n (benefit) for taxes on 1ncome (loss) from operatlons 1ncluded

o o 2003 S 2002 2000
Current tax expense (beneft) ..................... rerernrens - % 1,415,600 S 1,132,300 $ - (852,200)
Defeired, net........ S EE S T (751,600) (165,300) ~ (102,800),

§ 664,000 § 967,000 $ (955,000)

| The deferred tax consequences of temporary differences in reporting items for financial statement

and income tax purposes are recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Components of the

- deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 were as follows:

Deferred Tax Assets: o . _ _ ) .
IOISULANCE ettt ettt oe et et ere e es e e e e seet et ST % 187200 239,200
Vacation ........iceeeilveeen. e e _ 951,700 ' 937,300
WaTTanty .o.c.ovvvereeeciieeniennns e e e, SRR 322,600 o 134,400
Doubtftl ACCOUNLS......comeereereesieceeeesrereene e s 342,200 © 345,100
Pensions’ e, ) 2,940,400 3,464,800
Healthcare benefits , 288,800 221,000

©IAVENONY e eooveeseeoeeeeeee oo et S 427,800 .
Other.........ioee. e ettt et eeree et 383,100 - 306,000
E - e . ‘ : : $ 5,843,800 $ 5,647,800

Deferred Tax Liabilities: - - . : ,
Depreciation........... e eceenngresegecreseenteseeas st ons $ 1,722,600 - $ 1,659,100
Other .o, e ieeeeenad e - 26,900

- » : : -8 1,722,600 $ 1 686 000

Current deferred tax assets of $2 368 400 at December 31, 2003, and $1,912,700 at December 31, 2002,

- are included in prepayments on the aceompanymg Consohdated Balance Sheets.

A reconciliation between the statutory federal income tax rate (34%) and the effective rate of income -
tax expense for each of the three years dunng the period ended December 31, 2003 follows:

2003 S 2002 © 2001
] o Amount % Amount % Amount %

Statutory federal income tax S ' )

- expense (benefit).......covevniiecincnncrnninnn ~§$ 909,000 34.0 $ 969,400 34.0 $ (753,400) (34.0)

.Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from: ' ‘ T _ ‘

Tax creditS.....ccovvrivreeiiieecee e ‘ (332,200) (12.5)  (63,500) (2.3) (244,800) (11.1)
State tax, net offederal benefit.................. o 88,100 33 50,800 1.8 (25,800) (1.2)

Other, NEt .oo..vvvieisi oo o (900) 0.0 10,300 “ 04 - 69,000 32

_ $ 664,000 24.8. % 967,000 33.9 § (955,000) (43.1)
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Bank Borrowmgs

The Company has a $7 000, OOO bank borrowmg facrllty that explres on May 31 2004 which man-
agement intends to renew. Borrowmgs under the facility incur interest at the LIBOR Daily Floating
Rate plus 1.75%. At December 31, 2003, there was no outstanding balance under the- facrllty, and

at December 3l 2002, the. outstandrng balance was $4, 183 155.

~ In addition, the Company has a long term note payable outstandmg as of December 31 2003 in the
principal amount of $729,750. The note is repayable in quarterly installments of $104, 250 w1th the =

final payment due August 2; 2005, and with a variable interest rate of the LIBOR Daily Floatmg Rate -
plus 1.75%. The interest rate for the note was 2.88% as-of December 31, 2003. The note is secured by’
equipment with,a cost of $l 563 ,000. The Company was in complrance w1th all note covenants at

. December 31, 20()3

Guarantees 5 ‘ o -

The Company also has a $2 750 000 standby letter-of—cred1t facrlrty, and as of Decéember 31; 2003

there were standby letters of credrt totaling $627 740 1ssued under the fac1l1ty, with all to exprre with-

~ in one year.

(6)

2003 and 2002

. The/Compames provide, warranty reserves for product\defect's as they become known, as a signifi-

cant portion of the Companies' sales are custom-fabricated products. built to customer specifications.

Warranty claims tend to occur shortly. after completion of a project; and a-provision for estimated

warranty expense is made at the time of notification by the customer of a deféct in material or

workmanship. ' Service department personnel handle all notifications from customers concerning -

warranty claims, prepare-an estimate of the cost to repair or replace the defective item, and estab-
lish a reserve for each specific claim. Warranty claim reserves are reviewed monthly; and reserves
are adjusted to properly reflect the remammg est1mated costs. to complete the repair or replace-
ment. , v

The followrng 1s a reconcrlratron of changes n the warranty reserve for the years ended December 31,

2003 2002

. 'Beginning balance ..... RO s 5 894523 § 577,046
. Costs incurred to satisfy warranty claims .iveeirrennnns et eere e (1,324,091 - (1,278,661) .

' Aggregate warranty FESEIVES MAAE .\ luuen e e o " 1,409,533 © . 1,013,318

. Aggregate changes to warranty reserves..'. ................. e 346,873 582,320

: Endlng balance .............................................. O U . % 1,326,838 $ 894,523

Contmgencres

A lawsult was ﬁled in May 2002, agamst the Company allegmg breach of. contract/breach of express -

warranty in connection with the sale of a heat exchanger in October 2000, - The plaintiff alleged in the
suit that it had suffered direct, ‘conseqential, and incidental damages in excess of $3,100,000. On.
March 5, 2004, the parties reached an out-of-court settlement of the lawsuit. Under the settlement the

plaintiff will- receive $600,000. The Company will be responsible for $300,000 of the settlement, and =
the balance erl be-covered by the Company's product liability carrier. The Company's lrab1l1ty of
'$300,000 has been reflected in: the results for 2003. The effect on 2003 was to reduce net income by

$189 OOO or $0 16 per share on a drluted basrs
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The Company and. its subs1d1ar1es are involved in other legal proceedmgs incident to the conduct of
their business. It is management’s opinion that none of these matters will have a material adverse effect
on the consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash ﬂows

The Company has operatlng leases with total aggregate future minimum payments of $1, 031 500,
with terms exceeding one year. It is expected that leases will be renewed or replaced as they expire.

- The future minimum payments for each of the years subsequent to Décember 31, 2003, are:

2004 .ooooooo S $ 272,600
2005 oo e $ 270,600
2006 ..., - $ 241,600
© 2007 e, 149,300
- 2008 and beyond .......... $ 97,400

Segment Data:

The Company has four reportable segments:  Industrial Equipment, Dairy Farm Equipment, Field
Fabrication, and Transportation. The Transportat1on segment has been set out separately and the activ-
ities were previously included in Other/Corporate; and-2002 and 2001 were restated to be consistent
with this presentation. The Industrial Equipment segment. includes sales of the following products.

_ directly to industrial customers: food, beverage, chemical, and industrial processing equipment; indus- .

trial heat transfer equipment; biopharmaceutical equipment; pure-water equipment; thermal-energy -

- storage equipment; and commercial refrigeration equipment. Dairy Farm Equipment segment sales are

made to independent dealers for resale and include milk-cooling and storage equipment and accessories,
refrigeration units, and heat-recovery equipment for use on'dairy farms. The Field Fabrication segment
includes sales of very large, field-fabricated tanks and vessels that cannot be built and shipped from the
plant. Typical projects are large stainless steel storage tanks for sanitary and industrial process applications.
The Transportation segment delivers products to customers and backhauls materials and components.

* The segment also transports components for the Field Fabrication segment and performs contract car-

riage for third parties.

Management evaluates performance and'allocates resources based on income or loss before income
taxes. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in
Summary ofAccountlng Pohc1es in Note 1 to these Consolidated Fmanmal Statements

Reportable segments are managed. separately because they offer different products and serve different

‘markets. Industrial Equipment products have been aggregated because they are designed and built to a

customer’s specifications-and they use common processes and reésources in the Springfield, Missouri,

. manufacturing facility. Similar economic conditions affect the long-term financial performance of the
- product lines included in the Industrial Equipment segment.” The Dairy Farm Equipment segment includes

standard products that are built to stock in the Osceola, Towa, manufacturlng facility and are available

~_ for salé from inventory. The demand for Dairy Farm Equtpment products is affected by the economic

factors that influence the profitability of dairy farmers. The Field Fabrication segment uses different
skills and fabrication methods and requires different technology and expertlse than other segments. The .

: Transportatlon segment is a trucking operatlon

Net sales include revenues from sales to unafﬁhated and affiliated customers before elimination of inter-
segment sales. Intersegment eliminations are primarily sales from the Industrial Equipment segment
and Transportation segment to the Field Fabrlcatlon segment.
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- The Other/Corporate class1ﬁcatlon includes other revenues unallocated corporate assets and expenses
- and corporate other income (expense) :

! : . ‘2003 :
Dairy Farm ) Industrial’ " Field ~ Transpor- Other / Intersegment ‘
Equipment _Equipment  Fabrication tation Corporate . Eliminations. Consolidated
Net sales ...... v 8014, 306 860 '$ 91,379, 067 $ 8299 941 § 3918474 §° 594,'564‘ $ (1,732,888) $116,766,018
Depreciation and o P T _ ;
‘amortization o _ . ‘| - S
~ expense.... $. 298,145 § 2,373,233 $ 754283 § 152,232 § ' 459,568 $ - - $ 4,037,461
. Income (loss) - o I I o
before income = .| : C : - ) .
tax ... - §° 435469 S 1347,191 § (225163)5. 454,419 § 661,681 § - 3 2,673,597
Assets.......iveee $ 7,610,101 $42,742,818 '$. 3,569,769 $ 2,639,220 $ 11,092,952°8 - $ 67,654,860
Additions to - ' ’ e - '
property, plant R ' o ' o
- & equipment.. $ 9,599 $ 2,038914 S, 89,670 § 289340 § 346,846 § - $ 2,774,369
o E : 12002 -
Dairy Farm  Industrial . Field Transpor- Other / Intersegment o
A ‘Equipment _Equipment " Fabrication tation . Corporate Eliminations Consohdated*
" Net sales......... §.20,274,303 $ 78,239,085 § 14,939,379 '§ 3,361,503 § 542,604 $ (3, 207 440) $114149434
Depreciation and . L o :
amortization e S A r . .
eXpense ......... $ 338975 $§ 2,176,361 $ 444413 § 174462 § 294795 § - $ 3,429,006
Income (loss) =~ ‘ o _ ‘ ‘
before income ' o : T o
tAX e ~$ 3,570,314 °% (2,737,321) § 1,181,802 § = 115743 § - 720,684 § - $ 2,851,222
© ASSEtS...oooee. -$ 8,973,496 $ 41,561,377 '$ 6,031,589 $. 2,581,625. % 9,182,669 § - $ 68,330,756
Additionsto - . : ’ e - '
property; plant- ' . oo . , . i ’
&equ1pment $ 123292 § 1,897,760 § 2,089,362 § 70,096 $ 573,519 § - ;o $ 4,754,029
L o D 2001 ,
Dairy Farm  Industrial "~ Field ~ Transpor- -, Other / Intersegment _
o . 'Equipment  Equipment . Fabrication i tation Corporate  Eliminations Consolidated
‘Net sales........ $ 18,115,792 $ 64,518,777 $ 15,697,7‘46"$‘ 2,240,017 § 971,333 S (7,255446) $ 94,288,219 ,
Depreciation and | . o ' L » / . _
‘amortization . . ‘ . T SR P . L
expense...... $ 352,247 § 20955100 § 227319 § 2072258 252441 § - . - -§ 3,134,742
" In¢ome (loss) P e ' : o ‘ '
~ before income o . : J Ce
1D G $ 1,332,460 $ (5299;517) § 1099 587 § (131 688) - 783,322 § - $ (2,215,836)
Assets............ o $ 9,625,261 $ 32 168 557 $ 2, 371, 803 $ 1,860, 661 $ 9, 884 1918 - $ 55,910,473~
- Additions to - E ‘ . oo
property, plant ‘ . : . o I o
‘& equipment.. $ 226,801 § 4,078276 § - 217,368 $§ 297,005 § 84,646 § - $ 4,904,096
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Revenues from external customers by product category for the three years ended December 31, 2003,
were: :

2003 2002 . - » '200‘1 :

Milk-cooling and storage equipment ........... e $ 12,950,878 - $ 17,964,266 $15,923,497 .
‘Process vessels and tanks...................... [T 45,314,532 - 52,760,254 . 49,565,367

Other industrial equipment.............cococcimvnncnn. e - 58,500,608 - . 43424914 28,799,355
e $116,766,018 $114,149,434 $ 94,288,219

Revenues from. external customers by' ‘geographic location are attributed to countries based on the loca-
tion of the customer and for the three years ended December 31, 2003, were; -

, : _ 2003 2002 2001
. United States .oooooeseorrvorrerssrss i e e . $103,650,529  $100,736,612 $ 80,701,876
- North America (excluding the U.S.).......... SRTE 7,183,100 7,713,539 8,030,006
. Asia and the Far East.r....l.‘.‘...“..a ..................... . 3,378,499 . 4,018,883 4,055,619
Europe ............... STUTOS U e U 1,474,634 924,600 - 922,395

OthET TEaS ..........corevevirepesiesresnenseeees s 1,079,256 © - - 755,800 578,323
- . o o $116766018 $114149434 - §94288.219

During the years presented export sales to any one country were not in excess of 10% of consolidated
sales.

All long-lived assets owned by the Company and its: subs1d1ar1es are located in the United States

During 2003 and 2002 sales to an individual U S. customer exceeded 10% of consolidated sales The

‘sales amounted to $13, 045 000 and $12,388,000, respectively, and related to the Industrial Equipment

and Field Fabrication segments, respecti‘vely. During 2001, sales to any one customer were not in
excess of 10% of consolldated sales. ‘ - '

Long-Term Incentive Plans: "

The Company has two stock compensation plans: the 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the "Employee
Plan") and the Non-Employee Directors Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (the "Director Plan").

Under the Employee Plan, two types of awards have been provided for executives and key employees:
restricted stock and nonquahﬁed stock options. An aggregate of 180,000 shares, of common stock can
be issued under the Employee Plan, with 55,000 shares being the aggregate max1mum number of shares
that may be ‘granted as restrlcted stock.

Under the Director Plan, non- employee d1rectors can receive restricted stock and nonqualified stock

" options. An aggregate of 60 ,000 shares can be 1ssued under the Director Plan in either restricted stock
“or nonqualified options.

Under the two Plans the exercise price of each option must equal or exceed the closing market price of -
the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The options vest and are exercisable five years after -
the date of grant, and they must be exerc1sed no later than ten years from the date of grant

Under the Plans restricted shares of stock vest five years after the effective date of grant. Compensatlon
expense was computed by multiplying the number of shares granted by the fa1r market value of the
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_common stock on the date of grant.” The expense is berng recognized ratably over the vesting period.

Compensation expense recognized for the restricted shares was $146,737, $95,658, and $66,050 for the

- years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively. Under the Plans g, 700 shares of restricted

stock were granted durmg 2003 at the ‘fair market value of $35 per share. “At December 31, 2003 25,750

s shares of restrlcted stock were outstandlng under the Plans.

A summary of actrvrty in the Company S, stock optron plans is as follows

Outstandmg at December 31 2000......cccin

Granted.........oovvvevieeiiicies e SRR :

Outstanding at December 31 2001.......... SR
L GraNted e s :
i Forfeited ... e
| . Outstanding at December 31, 2002 ...................

T GTANLEA i e e e

Outstandmg at December 31,2003......n.....

Weighted -

- : Average
Number Exercise
of Shares  Price’ .
©19,400 $ 36.00

20,400 36.00
39,800 $36.00 -
- 21;800 35.35
_(3.400) ©36.00

58,200 - $35.76 .
23,300 35.00°
81,500 $ 35.54

The followmg table summarrzes 1nformatron about stock optrons outstandlng as of December 31, 2003

_Options Outstanding

Welghted
Average
‘Remaining .- Average
4 " Number ©  Contractual - - Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices of Shares : Years Price
$29 25 - $36 00 .t 81,500 ) 7 75

8 Opt1ons outstandrng as of December 31,2003, were not exercrsable

§ 35.54

»The Company applres APB No. 25 "Accountmg for Stock Issued to Employees " to account for em-
ployee stock options. Accordmgly, no compensat1on expense has been recognlzed for nonqualrﬁed stock

options.

Pro forma net income and earnings-per- share 1nformat10n (as required by SFAS No. 123 "Accountlng '
for ‘Stock-Based Compensation") has been determined as if the Company had accounted for. all stock ‘
opt1ons under the fair-value method descrrbed by SFAS No 123 : )

Model with the followmg welghted-average assumptrons

~ Stock Opnon Grants

" The fair Values for optrons were estrmated at the date of grant usmg the Black Scholes Optlon Prrcmg -

’ May l6 2003 July 25,2002 - May 20, 2002 March 1, 2001 May l3 1999

Interest ratel ................. ' .. ........ - 3.40% >4 80%

Expected life in years............... 75 1S
Expected volatility ......o........... 30.20% - .36.10%
Expected dividend yield........... - 8.17% - - -8.00%:

* Value per option............ et - 5494 $505

(.4.80%
7.5

38.80%
7.50%

$635 -

. 4.90%

s
6420%
©9.00% |

$8.58

5. 80% ‘
7.5

153.40%

7.40%

- §$8.60




" .The Black-Scholes Option Prlcing Model was deyeloped for use in estimatirlg the fair value of traded

©

options that have no .vesting restrictions and that are fully transferable. Tn addition, option pricing
models require the input of subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility. -
Because the Company's options have characteristics differént from those of traded options, the model,
in the opinion of management does not necessarlly provrde a rellable smgle measure of the fair-value

of its opt1ons

For purposes of pro forma drsclosures the estrmated fa1r Value of the options is being amortrzed to o
expense ratably over the vesting period. The pro forma disclosures, required by SFAS No. 123, are not
likely to be representative of the effects on reported net income or losses for future” years The pro
forma information follows: - : : SR

2003 2002 ' 2001,

Pro forrna net income (los‘s)........:...i; .............. S l 952 098 . $ l,83‘8,03 1‘ , 3 {l,»396,864.)4 '
‘Pro forma earnmgs (loss) per common share ' o ‘ ' I
BasiC. i e e §1.67 . $ -$(1.20)
i 5165 - § '$(1.20)

Shareholder Rights Plan:

On January 26, 2001, the' Board of D1rectors.of the Company adopted an Amended and Restated
Rights Agreement ("nghts Agreement") and declared 4 dividend distribution of one Common Share
Purchase nght (”Rrght") for each'share of the Company s common stock outstandmg on February 15,

2001, .

The Rights will be exer01sable only 1f a person or group acqu1res 15% or more of the Company's com-

* mon stock (an "Acquiring Person") or anncunces a tender offer that would result in ownership of 15%

or more of the Company's common stock.  Initially, each Right will entitle shareholders to buy one share
of the Company s common stock at an exercise price of $117. 25 ’

If the Company is acqurred ma merger or other business combmatlon and its common stock is changed -
or exchanged, or if 50% or more of its consolidated assets or earning power is sold, each Right will entitle
its holder to purchase, at the Right's then-current exercise price, shares of the acquiring company's:com-

~ mon stock having a market value of twice the exercise price. Also, if an Acquiring Person acquires 15%’

or more of the Company's outstanding common stock, each Rrght will entitle its holder to purchase, at

~ the nght‘s then-current exercise price, common stock of the Company having a market value of twice
 the exercise price. Under erther srtuat1on nghts owned by an Acquiring Person will become null and

vord

"Prior to acquisition by an Acquiring Person of 15% or more of the Company's c¢ommuon stock, the Rights

are redeemable at-the option of the independent members (as defined in the Rights Agreement) of the
Board of Drrectors at $0. 01 per Rrght The Rrghts will exprre on January 29, 2011. . )

Until a nght is exercrsed the holder thereof ‘as such has no rights as a: shareholder of the Company; -

including the right to.vote or to receive.dividends. The issuance of the Rrghts alone has no drlutlve‘ »
effect-and does not affect reported earnings per share.
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Dlrectors of Paul Mueller Company

We have audited the accompanymg consohdated balance sheets of PAUL MUELLER COMPANY (a;
“Missouri corporation) AND SUBSIDIARIES (Company) as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related
consolidated statements of income, shareholders' investment, and cash flows for the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002. These consolidated financial statements are 'the responsibility of the Company's management.
Our respons1b111ty is|to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. The
accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2001 were
audited by other auditors who have ceased operations. Those auditors expressed an unqualified opinion on
those consolidated financial statements, before the restatement descrlbed in Note 7 to the financial statements,
- in their report dated February 15, 2002, »

We conducted our audlts in accordance with audltmg standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan-and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatément. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,

evidence supporting | the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
 the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the over-
all fi nancral statement presentatlon We believe that our audlts provide a reasonable basrs for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 7003 and 2002 consohdated financial statements referred to: above present farrly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Paul Mueller Company -and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003
and 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002, in: conformlty with accountmg principles generally accepted in the United States of Amer1ca

As discussed above,‘the 2001 ﬁnanc1al statements of the Company were audited by other auditors who have
ceased operations. As described in Note 7, the Company changed the composition of its reportable segments
in 2003; and the amounts in the 2002 and 2001 financial statements relating to reportable segments have been
restated to conform to the 2003 composition of reportable segments. We audited the adjustments that were
applied to restate the disclosures for reportable segments reflected in the 2002 and 2001 financial statements.
In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied. However, we were not
engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2001 financial statements of Paul Mueller Company
and Subsidiaries other than with respect to such. adjustments and, accordingly, we do not express an opmron
or any other form of assurance on the 2001 ﬁnanc1a1 statements taken as a whole. S

I<PIV(C—: LEPJ
‘Kansas C1ty, MISSOUI‘I
March 5 2004 :
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‘Report of Independent Public Accountants’

To the Board of DireCtors of Paul Mueller Company:

. We have audrted the accompanymg consolidated balance sheets of PAUL MUELLER COMPANY (a Missouri

- corporation) AND SUBSIDIARIES as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated state-
‘ments of income, shareholders’ investment, and cash- flows for each of the three years in the period
~ended December 31 2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management
Our respons1b111ty is to express an opmron on these ﬁnanmal statements based on our audrts ' :

We conducted our audrts in accordance Wrth audrtmg standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,.
- evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statemernits. An audit also includes assess-
-Ing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as-well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentatron We believe that our aud1ts provrde a reasonab]e ba51s for our
opmron t , _
In our oprmon the ﬁnancral statements referred to above present farrly, in all material respects the ﬂnancral
position of Paul Mueller Company and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of
their operations-and their cash flows for each of the three years in the perrod ended December 31,2001, in con-
“formity with accountmg pr1nc1ples generally accepted in the United States :

A/ ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

~ Kansas City, Missourt, |
February 15, 2002

" NOTE: The above audit report of Arthur Andersen LLP otr former rndependent public accountants is a ‘copy of the original report dated
February 15, 2002, réndered by Arthur Andersen LLP on out consolidated financial statements included .in our Form 10-K filed on
March 21, 2002 and"has not been reissued by Arthur Andersen LLP since that date. The above report refers to financial statements not
physrcally 1ncluded in thrs ﬁlmg The 2001 fmancra] statements referred to in that report have been restated
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Paul Mueller Company and Subsidiaries | , |
“
Selected Financial Data - Five-Year Summary and ’ |
Market and Dividend Information by Quarter

- For the Years 2003 and 2002 -

“Selected Financial Data - Five-Year Summary =

Net sales....... e :
Net income (loss) ....... v

Earnings (loss) p}er‘commo“n share:

BaSiC...ov o I $1.73 $1.62
Diluted......... e $1.71 '$ 1.61 $ (1.16) $3.29 $ 1.60
Common shares outstanding ........ L 1,193,771 ‘1,18.5,07] 1,179,721 1,173,721 1,174,021
Dividends declared ' o - , : ‘ o
per common share ................. $2.40 - $2.40 $2.40 - $240 $2.40:

Total assets .......c....c.o........ s

Long-term obligation, net;
of current maturities ............. .

" Shareholders’ investment .............

Working capital ............ e

2003
$116,766,018 -
$ 2,008,553

$ 67,654,860

$ 992,208

$ 29,247,496

$ 10,723,341

2002

2001

2000

1999

$114,149,434

$ 1,889,158

© $ 68,330,756

$ 1,604,566
- $29,016,748
©$ 13,304,896

$ 94,288,219
$ (1,359,840)

| $‘(1.16)

$,55,910,473

S 947,189

$ 35,963,324 -
$ 13.910,555 -

$105,182,134
$ 3,847,397

$3.29

$ 55,687,051

$ 162,366
$ 40,112,056

- § 18,201,712

$ 95.176.678
$ 1,870,659

$-1.60

1§ 55,622,768

§ 162,366
$ 39,008,627
$ 18,222,819

Book Value\ber common share..... $2450 : $24.49 $30.48 " $34.18 $33.23
.Aver_age number of employees..... 1,007 968 876 870 863
‘Market and Dividend Information by Quarter

’ o 2003 2002
Quarter Ended o ' Quarter Ended- .
, Mar. 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec.31 - Mar.31  June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

Market Price of Stock: : - : S i i , | o

High..ooiiciiinn, '$ 3450 $ 41.50 $ 45.00 $ 42:50 - $32.50 $33.12 '$ 32.50 $ 30.90

Low .o, '$29.45 -$.30.97 $ 39.25 $ 39.01 $ 28.00 $ 3031 $ 2517 § 26.15
Cash Dividends | - T | , o

Declared per share.... , § 0.60 $ 060 $ 060  §.060  § 060 $ 0.60 $ 0.60 $.0.60

}Paul ‘Mueller Company cofnmon ‘stock‘ trades on The Nasdaq Stock Market® undér the symbol MUEL,
“and there are approximately 230 shareholders of record and approximately 620 beneficial shareholders.

.The>market price data was obtained from 'i‘he Nasdaq Stock Market.

.
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Paul Mueller Company and Su‘bsidi‘avries -
Financial Highlights by Quarter (Unaudlted)
- For the Years 2003 and 20(}2

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data) - o o
' ' ' ' Quarter Ended

' March31 .~ . "' June30 - - September30 - - _December 31
2003 2002 - 2003 . 2002 2003~ 2002 2003 2002
v | - o S b)) - @
Net ales e S 27,579 $ 18597 § 29961 $ 22514 $ 29720 $ 36680 - § 29,506 'S 36358
Gross profit (a)..... "S 5974 $ 3036 S 6569 'S 4600 S 7026 $. 6690 $ 4020 S 8390
. Netincome (loss) .. S T8-S (L3 S 98 5 (2258 1017 § 1010 § 700) 2,217~
Earmngs (loss) | ‘ BN ' -
per common share ‘ . ' ‘ .
Basic....’.'\..i ...... . S061 $(095)  $084 80200 - $087  $08  $060) $ 190
Diluted....occ.. S 061 $(095) 503 ’s(ozo)" S08 5087 S(0.60) s 189_'.

(a) Because the mventory determmatlon under the LIFO miethod can only be made at the end of each fiscal year based on the ‘
. inventory levels and costs at that point, mtenm LIFO determmatlons must be based on management’s estimate of expected
'year—end inventory levels and costs

(b) As prev1ously reported a lawsult was filed'in May 2002 against the Company- alleging breach of contract/breach of express
" warranty in connection with the sale of a heat exchanger in October 2000. The plaintiff alleged in the suit that it had suffered:
. direct, consequential, and incidental damages in excess of $3,100,000. On Maich 5, 2004, the parties reached an‘out-of-court
settlement of the lawsuit. Under the settlement, the plaintiff will receive $600,000. The Company will be responsible for
$300,000 of the settlement, and the balance will be covered by the Company's product liability. carrier. The Company's lia-

- bility of $300,000 has been reflected in the results for the fourth quarter and for the year 2003. The eﬁ’ect on the 2003 fourth
quarter results was to increase the net loss by $189, 000 net of tax, or $0 16 per share. * .

" (c) - Results for the fourth quarter of 2003 were unfavorably affected by a LIFO adjustment and the effect of the LIFO adJust-'
ment increased the net loss by $253, 000 net of tax, or $0.22 per share .

¢

(d)  Net income for the fourth quarter of 2002 ‘was “favorably affected by a LIFO adjustment that mcreased net income by '
$323,100, net of tax, or $0.28 per share ona dlluted ba51s o :
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'Paul Mueller Compan‘»y and: Subsidiaries , , o _ _
- Management’s Discussion and Analysis. of Operating Results and Financial Condition S

{

T The followmg discussion and analysrs provides 1nformatlon which management believes is relevant to an
assessment and understandmg of the Company's consolidated results of operations and financial condition.
‘The discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consohdated Frnancral Statements and Notes to
Consolidated F1nanc1al Statements : :

Overview

Paul Mueller Company " Company Yisa manufacturer of hlgh -quality stainless steel tanks: and Vessels and
process systems and equipment. The Company's products are used on dairy farms and in a wide variety of
industrial applications, including food, dairy, and beverage processing; pharmaceutical, biotechnological, and

chemical processing; water distillation; heat transfer; HVAC; commercial refrigeration; heat recovery;
process cooling; and thermal-energy storage. The Company has two manufacturing -facilities located in
Springfield, M1ssour1,tand Osceola, lowa, with about 730,000 square feet and 215 ,000 square feet, respectively. -

. The Company has four reportable segments: Industrral Equ1pment Dairy Farm Equlpment F ield Fabrlcatlon
and Transportation. The Industrial Equipment segment produces custom designed and built processing equip-
ment, biopharmaceutical equipment, heat transfer equipment, thermal products, and commercial refrigeration
products The Dairy Farm Equipment segment produces milk-cooling and storage equipment and accessories
for use by dairy farmers. The Field Fabrication segment provides very large, field-fabricated tanks and ves-
sels and systems that cannot be built and shipped from the factory. The Transportation segment is a trucking
operation that provides delivery of products to customers and the backhaul of materials and components. The

Company's reportable segments are managed separately because they ot‘fer different products and serve dif-
ferent markets ~ } . ‘ ‘ :

The largest segment is the lndustrral Equipment segment; and it is located at the Springfield, MISSOUI‘I facﬂrty
This segment's product lines include processing equipment, ‘biopharm systems, heat transfer products com-
mercial refrigeration products, and thermal-storage equipment. The profitability of the Industrial Equipment

- segment historically has been lower than the Dairy Farm Equipment segment (the other main segment) as the

Industrial Equipment segment is more resource-intensive. and the markets served are extremely competrtrve
Projects are generally engineered to order and require much greater support from the sales, engineering, and
manufacturing areas; as well as a high degree of skill to fabricate. Also, the risks of manufacturmg are greater
because the productstare custom designed and built; and the chance of misinterpretation, error, and mistakes
1s much greater than with standard products Ordinarily, Industrial Equrpment projects are bid among several
~ suppliers, which tends to make pricing very-competitive. , , ,

The Company's faciljties for the Industrial Equipmentsegment are particularly well suited to large projects.
The Company has the engineering capability and the manufacturing facilities to efficiently execute large
projects. However, due to a long sales cycle, these large projects tend to be acquired on a periodic rather than
on a consistent basis. This factor leads to significant swings in the level of sales and- proﬁtabrhty between
. years for the Industrral Equ1pment segment. : S
During the past two years, the biopharm systems product line sales personnel have been successful in securing
large modular prOJects that involve the fabrication and factory testing of complete process modules comprised
of vessels, interconnected piping, instrumentation, and controls. These projects are well suited to the Company's
engineering and fabrication capabilities and 1ts facilities;’ and they have contrlbuted to the improved per- -
formance of the segment. ,

Sales orgamzat1ons for ‘each product line within the. Industrial Equlpment segment sell drrectly to end users
or to large engrneerlng firms who are actmg on behalf of their chents
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Competrtron is part1cularly intense’ for the processing equrpment product line as there are numerous competitors,
all of which are smaller than the Company. The Company's strategy is to provide comprehensive capabilities
to serve its customers in the markets in which the*Company competes. . The capabilities include extensive

engineering and design, shop fabrication of equipment and systems, on-site fabrication of equipment and sys-
" tems, field installation of piping and other equipment, start-up, and commissioning. In addition, there is the
capabrlrty within the Field Fabrication segment of acting as a general contractor to erect bu1ld1ngs and related
facilities to house equipment and tanks that are shop- ‘or field-fabricated; and the Company's Transportation’
segment can handle transportation of the shop-fabricated tanks, equipment, and components. The Company
has the capability of working with the customer from conceptual design through the startup phase of a project. * -
- This combination of available services prov1des a one- stop solutron for the customer and offers a competitive
- advantage for certain prOJects ~ '

For the Industr1al Equipment segment, revenue from sales of fabr1cated products is recognized: upon passage .
~of title to the customer. Passage of title may occur at the time of shipment from the Company's plant, at the
time of delivery to the custoier, or when' projects are completed in the field and accepted by the customer. '
For large, multi-unit projects that are fabricated in the plant; revenue is recogmzed under the units-of-delivery
method, which is a modification of the percentage- of-completron method of accounting for contracts. The units-
~of- del1very method recognizes as revenue the contract price of the units completed and shipped or delivered to
the customer (as determined by the contract). Revenues from long-term contracts that involve only a few-deliv-
erables are recognized on the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. For plant-fabricated projects,
percentage of completion is determined by comparing total manufactunng hours mcurred to date for each prOJect
© to estimated total manufacturmg hours for each project.

A portron of the Springfield plant employees are covered by a-union contract with Sheet Metal Workers Inter-'
national - Local 208. The current contract will exprre on Aprll 7, 2004 and management expects to achieve a new
-contract. . :

Darry Farm Equrpment 1s-the second largest segment in ‘terms of sales and is located at the Companys
Osceola, Towa, facility. Dairy Farm Equipment is sold domestlcally and internationally to about 270 inde-
pendent dealers for resale to dairy farmers. A significant portion of the dealers are located in the continental
~ United States. Dairy Farm Equipment segment sales are most directly affected by milk prices paid to farmers,
-the cost of feed, and the level of milk productron Revenue for the Dairy Farm Equipment segment is recog-
nized at the time title to the equipment is transferred wh1ch generally occurs upon shrpment from the plant

In the domestic Darry Farm Equipment market the number of, darry farms continues to decline as high-cost-
production dairies are being eliminated: Advances in dairy farming techniques have created an excess of milk
production in the United States, with low milk prices and relatively flat milk consumption; and it ‘continues
to drive many smaller dairy farms out of business. This process leaves fewer, though larger, dairy farm oper--
ations that will require larger milk-cooling and storage capacity. The-Company is well positioned to meet the

milk-cooling and storage capacity requirements of this change in the marketplace; and any impact on revenues '

and proﬁtab111ty will depend on the rate at whreh farm- consol1dat1on continues.

As the size of the domestic market for Dairy Farm Equlpment contmues to declrne competition will increase
among the equipment suppliers. The three major competitors of the Company in the Dairy Farm Equipment
‘market are full-line suppliers, whereas the Company s offering is limited to milk-cooling and storage equipment.

- The Company shares dealers with its competitors, and those dealers will be: encouraged by the competitors to
sell their product lines exclusively, to the exclusion of the Company's products. - This is more often the case
on projects involving a complete new dairy, where the competitors are able to offer a total package and greater
pricing flexibility. However, in spite of the pressure of reduced sales, the Company has been able to main-

tain a significant market share and is-well positioned for the trend,toward larger dairy operations. -
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Field Fabrication is the third segment. This segment was established in 1998, when Mueller Field Operations,
Inc., was incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary; and. it expanded the Company's product offering by
provrdmg the capability to completely fabricate and assemble large stainless steel tanks in the field. This seg-
~ment also offers a turnkey solution to the customer that includes not only building erection and equipment
installation, but also on-site fabrication and installation of piping, other: equipment startup, and commissioning.
Addmonally, this segment has the capability to modify and/or repair existing equipment operating at a cus- -
tomer's facility. The Field Fabrication segment purchases components from the Industrial Equipment segment,
- and those sales are eliminated in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Revenue for the
- Field Fabrication segiment is recognized on the percentage- of-completlon method of accounting. Generally,
pr0)ects are competrtwely bid among a few competltors .

The Transportatron segment includes the activities of Mueller Transportatron Inc., a wholly owned trucking
subsidiary. This segment provides outbound transportation of products for customers of the Industrial Equip-
‘ment and Dairy Farm Equipment segments and provides transportation services to the Field Fabrication segment
for components that are shipped to the field. Revenues are also obtained by performing contract carriage for third
parties. Services provided by the segment are those of a specialized carrier, as a significant number of loads are
oversized in d1mens1on and weight. This segment operates with a fleet of 15 tractors and 40 specialized trailers
to transport oversized loads. The Field Fabrication segment utilizes transportation services from the Trans-
: portatron segment, and those sales are eliminated in preparatlon of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Industnal Equlpment and Field Fabrlcatlon segments provide capital equipment to industrial customers;
- and consequently, the level of sales for each segment is directly affected by the growth in the general economy,
capltal expendrture levels capac1ty utilization, and interest rates.

Management evaluates performance of each of the segments based on proﬁt and loss from operations before -
income taxes. Accounting policies for the segments are the same as those described in the Summary of S1gn1ﬁcant o
Accounting.Policies in the Notes to Consohdated Financial Statements : '

Operatmg Results ;

Sales - Consolrdated results for each of the three years ended December 31, 2003 2002, and 2001 were as’
follows - l_ ‘

2003 2002 2001

Net Sales ..ol e e S ‘ $116,766,018 -~ $114,149,434 $ 94,288,219 -
Cost of Sales....... et e s 93,177,115 91,432,774 78,071,436
GIrOSS PrOfit vovvisoecvcvrrisiininsssns SO . $23588903  $22716,660. . $ 16,216,783
, Sellmg, General and Administrative Expenses ............... : 21,370,524 20,278,938 - - 18,912,525
s Operating 1 mcome (10SS) e eevivieiee e $ 2218379 © $° 2,437,722 '$ (2,695,742).
~ Other Income (Expense): s : . e : B o
Interest iNCOME ...........cvvvvnns vt $ 78,148 $ -89,269 $ 199,079
Interest expense .................... GRER el s (82, 700) . (25,955) (25,218)
Other, T SO ceereeann TSN C 459,770 ' 350,186 " 306,045
P . 3 $ - 455218 $ 413,500 - $ 479,906
Income (loss) béfore income taxes....... e $ 2,673,597 $ 2,851,222 $ (2,215,836)
Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes ..........cocervvcvernnns 664,000 967,000 . . (955,000)
~ Income (Loss) before Joint Venture.............. USRI 0 $ 2,009,597 § 1,884,222 % (1,260,836) -
" Equity in Income (Loss) of Joint Venture e © 8,956 4,936 (99,004) -
Net Income (Loss) ........ OSSOSO TPRRIIY $.2 018'553 § 1,889,158 ¥ (1,359,840)

2003 Compared to 2002 - Net income for 2003 exceeded 2002 net income as a result of hrgher sales coupled
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with an increase in proﬁt for the Industrlal Equipment segment. The 1mprovement in sales for the Company was

- a direct result of the larger backlog at the beginning of 2003 of $54,023,000, which was $25,573,000 highet

than the backlog for 2002.. However, order entry during 2003 was 24% less than during 2002, with all segments

experiencing a decrease in order entry from the prior year. The decrease in order entry had a dramatic impact

~ on results for the year, as the workload dropped off in the last half of 2003. The workload problem was further

* exacerbated as a customer placed a modular system project on indefinite hold in mid-year, which caused an_
additional reduction to'the workload. This had an adverse impact on sales for the second half of the year, as
revenue of approxrmately $4,400,000 was scheduled to be recognized under the percentage-of-completion
method of accounting during the Tast half of the year. A net loss of $700,000 was incurred during the féurth
quarter after having earned $2,719,000 of net income through the first nine months of the year. The under-
absorption of manufacturing burden-due to the low workload level and the lawsuit settlement of $189, OOO
after tax, both adversely affected results for the fourth quarter

Sales by segment for the two years ended December 31, 2003 were as follows

. L 2003 2002
Industrial EQUIpMENt ... § 91,379,067 ©° $ 78,239,085
Dairy Farm Equipment................... - $ 14,306,860 . - $ 20,274,303
Field Fabrication ................ vt 0 S 8,299,941 $ 14,939,379
Transportatlon ....... RS $ . 3 918 474 - - § 3361, 503

The 1mprovement in sales for the Industrial Equ1pment segment was solely due to b1opharm systems sales, as
the other product lines within the segment experienced flat or reduced sales. . The increase in sales related to
a 259% increase in the backlog for the biopharm systems product line at the beginning of 2003 compared to .
the beginning of 2002. Sales of biopharm systems were $20,000,000 higher during the past year compared
to 2002. Within the biopharm systems product line, sales of modular systems were the most significant com-
ponent of sales and represented 63% of biopharm systems 'sales for 2003. Sales for modular systems were -
: recogmzed under the percentage of-completlon method of accountmg

In conttast, sales for the processmg equrpment product line (trad1t1onally one of our most significant product
lines within the Industrial Equipment segment) were down 19% during 2003 compared to 2002. This product
line, in particular, has been adversely affected by the low level of business capital expenditures and low capacity
utilization rates that Have occurred over the past three years. Due to the reduced level of spending, conditions
were also very competitive for projects that were available during 2003, which adversely affected pricing,
~ margins, and profitability of this product line. A

Sales in the Dairy Farm Equipment segment for 2003 were at their lowest level since 1987. The decline was
almost entirely attributable to the domestic market, as export sales were relatively flat between 2003 and 2002.

- The decrease in domestic Dairy Farm Equlpment sales during 2003 was directly related to the milk price

received by farmers, as the average milk price from July 2002 through June 2003 was at its lowest level in 25

" years. Although the milk price increased during the second half of 2003 due to increased culled cow prices,

strong utilization of cheese, and the implementation of a herd reduction program by cooperatives, dairy farmers
. Wwere in no position to increase their milk-cooling and storage capacity ‘after having experienced a year of

~ extremely low milk prices. As a result, the' Dairy Farm Equipment segment experlenced a 50% decline in the - '
o number of milk coolers sold in the domestic market in 2003 compared to 2002

Although the backlog for the Field Fabrication segment was $5,503,000 at December 31, 2002 order entry
during 2003 declined by.79% from the preceding year which contributed to the $6,639, 000 reductron in sales.
Like the Industrial Equipment segment, the Field Fabrication segment was affected by the weakness in capital
‘expenditures during 2003. The economy remained sluggish during 2003, and firms adopted a conservative
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position with 'respeetl to capital investments. Customers postpened caprtal expendltures and limited therr .
l expendltures to essential plant maintenance and repa1r items. - - ‘ ,

Sales for the Transportatlon segment were $557, OOO h1gher during 2003 compared to 2002 The increase was. -
consistent with the increase in sales for the Company. Revenues were also h1gher due to several large over-
~ size loads that were transported durmg the year .

The gross proﬁt rate for 2003 was 20.2% compared toa gross proﬁt rate.of 19 9% for 2002 The i 1mprove-
ment in the gross proﬁt percentage was due to an increase in the gross margin rate (a measure of the variable
_profit margin), coupled with an increase in sales volume. The gross margin improved primarily as a result of -
the improved gross margin for the Industrial Equipment segment. Within the Industrial Equipment segment,
gross margins were generally higher for 2003 versus 2002; and the biopharm systems product area had the
most significant impact, as sales were 65% higher and the overall gross margin rate improved by. approxi-
mately 1.3%. Howeyer, the LIFO provrsron reduced ‘gross profit by $1,386,000 during 2003, compared to
only a $37,000 reduction during 2002. The increase in the LIFO provision was the result of rap1dly escalating
surcharges for stainless steel during 2003, coupled with an increase in the inventory level. Manufacturing
burden for 2003 ‘was 8% higher than durrng 2002. The increase was due to higher costs for personnel (including
wages and significantly higher costs. for healthcare) and variable manufacturing burden costs related to the
higher sales volume for the year. Additionally, the low production volume during the last quarter of 2003

adversely affected the manufacturrng burden expense for the year :

The price of stamless steel is expected to continue to 1ncrease during- 2004 The increase is drlven by the sur-
charges assessed at the time of shipment that are the result of the volatility in the market price of nickel,
' chrome, and molybdenum which are key materials used in the production of stainless steel. The surcharges
have continued to increase, as April 2004 surcharges for our most commonly used grades of stainless steel
will be $0.25"and $0:33 per pound higher than the December 2003 surcharges. In addition; the price of car- .
bon steel has risen dramatically and could also have an adverse effect on costs.. Inflation is a factor that affects
the cost of operations, and the Company s$eeks to minimize the effect on its operating results. To the éxtent
permitted by competitive conditions, hlgher materlal prlces labor costs and operating costs are passed on to
-~ the customer by 1ncreasmg prlces ‘ -

As prevrously reporteéd, a lawsuit was ﬁled in May 2002 agalnst the Company allegmg breach of contract/
breach of express warranty in connection with the sale of a heat exchanger in October 2000. The plaintiff
alleged in the suit that it had suffered direct, consequential, and incidental damages in excess of $3,100,000."

On March 5, 2004, the parties reached an out-of-court settlement of the lawsuit. Under the settlement the
plaintiff will receive $600 000. The Company will be responsible for $300,000 of the settlement, and the bal-
“ance will'be covered by the Company's product liability carrier. The Company's liability of $300 000 has
been reflected.in the results of the Industrial Equipment segment for 2003. The effect on the 2003 results for ,
- the Industrral Equlpment segment was to reduce net 1ncome before tax by $300, 000. : o
e l

Sellmg, general and admrmstratrve expenses were higher durmg 2003 cotnpared to 2002 prrmarlly as a result
of higher personnel costs including healthcare expense deprecwtron expense, and i insurance Costs.

Durmg 2003, the Company utilized its bank borrowmg facrllty, so interest expense was significantly hlgher
~ and interest income was lower during 2003 compared to 2002 Other net was hlgher durlng 2003 versus 2002
due to hlgher royaltres and mlscellaneous income. . 3

E . The effective tax rates for 2003 and 2002 were 24. 8% and 33.9%, respectlvely The rates for 2003 and 2002
were below the statutory rate (34%) due prlmarrly to tax cred1ts s :




Thé 'Comp'a'ny"s share of thevin'vc‘o.nﬂe‘f‘r'om thé 50%-6Wned Mexi(j:a'n joint Ve‘ﬁfure'for 2003 increased by $4,020 .

~over 2002. The improved performance for 2003"Was: directly related to an increase in sales by the joint ven- .

ture company. _ | ‘ N
The Company’é net income for 2003 was $2,‘01’9,000,' or $1.71 per share on a diluted basis, compared to
$1,889,000, or $1.61 per share on a diluted basis, in 2002. . .’ ' , T
2002 Compared t0' 2001 - The 21% incfease in consolidated sales achjéve‘d during 2002 cohﬁpared to the -
prior year was the most significant factor contributing to the variance inthe results between 2002 and 2001.
Sales by ségment fof, the two years énded Decémber 31, 2002,: wéré;_asr follows: ,

' T 002 2001

Industrial Equipment................. " $ 78,239,085 ~ ‘$ 64,518,777
Dairy Farm Equipment.......o.o... - $20,274303 - § 18,115,792
Field Fabrication -........tooooi.. 814939379 $.15,697,746
Transportation............ et 873,361,503 $ 2,240,017

‘The most s'igni’ﬁ-cant increase -in sales occurred in the vlndustryiévl Equipment ‘segment, as sales were
*$78,239,000 for 2002 compared to $64,519,000 for 2001.. Virtually all of the increase in sales for the seg-
ment related to the biopharm systems product line, as sales were $23,400,000 higher during 2002 compared

4 - 10 2001 for this product line. Sales were favorably affectéd by a 260% increase in order entry for the biopharm - -

- systems product line during 2002 compared to 2001. -Sales during 2002 included a modular system that was
completed and shipped during the third quarter of 2002, the first bioreactor system for a biotechnology firm -
~ that was completed and shipped during the fourth quarter of 2002, and sales for two large modular projects
secured during 2002 that were recognized under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. Sales
of virtually all products within the biopharm systems product line were higher during 2002 compared to 2001
In contrast, sales for the processing equipment and heat transfer product lines within the Industrial Equipment }
segment were down 20% and 12%, respectively. These product.lines were particularly adversely affected by
the steep declining trend in industrial capital expenditures and low capacity utilization that has occurred over
the past few years. Additionally, due to reduced capital spending, conditions were extremely competitive for
- the projects that were available during 2002, which adversely affected prices, margins, and profitability for
the Industrial Equipment segment. B o ' : R
- Sales of Dairy Farm Equipment were higher in both the domestic and international markets during 2002 com-
pared to 2001. Domestic sales improved by 13% from 2001, while export sales were higher by approximately -
10%. This was consistent with the increase in milk-cooléer unit sales between 2002 and 2001 and the 16%
increase in the average size of the Company's milk coolers sold in the domestic market. " ‘

-Although the average milk price during 2002 was 20% less than 2001 and order entry was down 4% from the
prior year, sales of.domestic Dairy Farm Equipment were higher. A significant contributor to the increase in
sales was the beginning 2002. backlog of $2,910,000, which was an increase of 65% over the backlog at the
beginning of 2001. Also, milk prices were favorablé for the first half of 2002 and averaged about $11.00 per
cwt.; and feed costs remained reasonable for most-of 2002. Both factors contributed to investment in new-
milk-cooling and storage capacity.. Additionally, the 2002 annual milk production increased by 2.7% over the \
milk production in 2001, which also contributed to the need for additional storage capacity.

. Although thé U.S. dollar remained strong' during 2002 and fhe economies‘remaincd sluggish in many of our

export markets, export-sales of Dairy Farm Equipmient were slightly higher during 2002 compared fo 2001.
The main areas with an increase in sales Were Asia, Europe, and South America. - s
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- F1eld Fabrication segment sales for 2002 were $14,939,000, a decrease of $758,; 000 from 2001, The backlog
at the beginning of 2002 was only $318,000; and’ although order entry was over $20,000,000 for the year, the
timing for the start of fabrication was such that only a portion of the major projects was recognized as sales

B .during 2002 based on the use of percentage- of—completlon accountrng

Sales for the Transportatron segment increased by $1,122,000 between 2001 and 2002. The increase related -
directly to the increase in sales by the Company, which led to higher usage of the truckrng operation by cus-
tomers for products they had purchased. Additionally, a change was made at the beginning of 2002 to have
a third-party truckmg firm provide management of the truckmg operatlon wh1ch ‘helped to improve sales per-
formance for the segment ‘ ‘

The consolidated gross profit rate for 2002 was 19.9% compared to a gross proﬁt rate of 17.2% for 2001 "The
‘improvement in the consolidated | gross profit rate. was directly related to the higher sales volume, coupled
with an increase in the gross margin rate (a measure of the variable profit margin) for all segments during
2002 compared to 2001 in spite of higher manufacturing burden. Manufacturing burden was higher for 2002
compared to the prior year, as the variable component of manufacturing burden was higher due to the 21% .
increase in sales volume. Additionally, over 100 new production employees were added to the Springfield
facility during 2002 to handle the workload necessitated by the 52% increase in order entry during 2002 com-
pared to 2001. The srgnlﬁcant cost of the process to obtain a sufficient number of plant employees and to
provide the extensive training and certification necessary-to enhance their skills and abilities contributed to.
“higher manufacturmg burden c :

Selling, general and administrative expense for 2002 was 7% higher compared to 2001. Expendrtures were
- higher for personnel,iinsurance, and legal fees; and there were increased provrslons for spemﬁc potentral war-
ranty claims and possrble uncollectible accounts -

Interest i income was $89 000 for 2002 versus $199,000 for 2001. The decrease in mterest income was due to
a significantly lower average 1nterest rate on 1nvestable funds during 2002 Other net was comparable between
2002 and 2001. ‘, ' / : .
The 2002 and 2001 effectrve tax rates were 33.9% and 43 1%, respectlvely, which varied from the statutory
rate (34%) due prlmarlly to tax credits. ) ‘

~ The Company S share of the 2002 income from the 50%- owned Mex1can joint venture was $4 900 compared
to the Company's share of the loss for 2001 of $99,000. Although sales were lower during 2002, an 1mprove- -
ment in margins andl a reduction in operating expenses contributed to the improved performance - :

‘Net income for 2002 was $1,889,000, or-$1.61 per share on a diluted basrs compared to a net loss of $1, 360 000, -
or $1.16 per share on a drluted bas1s for 2001. The primary factor contrtbutmg to’ the 1mprovement in per-
formance was a $19/861, OOO increase in sales between 2002 and 2001. .

Backlog = Backlog represents the contract value of projects acqulred by the Company that have not been

“recognized as sales revenue because the projects are in various stages of the engineering and fabrication
process. Backlog islan important metric because it is a measure of sales revenues yet to be recognized by the -
‘Company. Lead times on projects can vary from a few weeks to over a year, depending on the size and com-
plexity of the project.- Backlog is reviewed at each quarter end to insure that the. pI'O]eCtS 1ncluded n reported
backlog are still Vahd and have not been put on 1ndeﬁn1te hold by the customer. :

Consolidated sales backlog totaled §$38,612, OOO at December 31,2003, versus $54,023 000 and $28 450 000 at
~ the end of 2002 and 2001, respectlvely The backlog for the, Industrral Equrpment segment (exclusrve of shop
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work for the Field Fabrication segment) was $36,251,000, $47,564,000, and $25,222,000 at the end of 2003,
. 2002, and 2001, respectively. The backiog for the Darry Farm Equrpment segment was $1,084,000, $956, 000

“and $2 910,000 at the end of 2003, 2002, and- 2001, respectively. The Field Fabrication segment backlog was-
$1,277,000, $5,503,000, and $318, OOO at the end of 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively. We expect that all of
- ‘the December 31, 2003 consohdated backlog w111 be recognrzed as'sales over the next twelve months.

~ Backlog at year- -end is not necessanly 1nchcat1ve of the Company S future level of sales for the subsequent
- quarter due to extensive engineering time and the long manufacturing or fabrication cycle that is required for
~certain projects. Orders in backlog can be subject to delays during the fabrication process due to the complex

- nature of many projects. Also, orders in backlog are subject to delays in completion and/or shipment dates. | |

requested by customers. The Company may be unable to recognize sales for orders in backlog when initial-
ly scheduled due to delays and contmgencnes and this could have a srgmﬁcant impact on the level of sales
-and results for a particular quarter. o ‘

Fmanc1al Condmon

: qumdlty .~ Capital Resources ~" Cash prov1ded by operatrons was $12, 377 ,000, $1,045,000, and
$8,088,000 for 2003 2002, and 2001, respectlvely The increase in cash from operating activities for 2003
was prrmarlly attributable to a decrease in accounts receivable | ($5,602,000) and an ‘increase in advanced
billings ($6,475,000). The decrease in receivables related to the completion of several large projects during the
year and receipt of final payments. The increase in advanced billings relates to large projects that were in
proeess at year-end, and it includes-the down payments and progress payments made by customers for projects
still in process. The increase in mventory ($4,970,000)-was a reduction of cash ﬂow and reflects the costs asso-
ciated with the large projects in process at year—end 2003 ‘

The 2002 cash ﬂow was adversely affected by-an increase in aecounts recervable ($6 144 000) an.increase in
costs in excess of estimated earnings and billings ($2,995,000), and an increase in inventories ($2,765 ,000).
The i mcrease in these accounts all relates to several large projects that were in process at the end of 2002.

Although a loss of $1,360, 000 was incurred in 2001 the posrtrve cash flow provided by operatrons was due
to depreciation, a decrease in accounts receivable, a decrease in inventory, and an increase in advanced
billings. The loss for 2001 was due to a significant reductlon in sales, and this also contributed to the decrease
in accounts receivable and inventory. Advanced billings increased: over the prior year, as there were some -
significant projects in process at December 31 2001, for which down payments and progress payments had -
been recerved : o

The Company's primary ongomg cash requlrements will be for operatmg needs, capital expendrtures and dw- ‘
idends.. The Company's primary source of liquidity is internally generated. cash flow. The Company also
maintains a bank borrowing facility to cover short-term working capital needs when the level of fabrication
~.activity is particularly high. The Company expects that the ongoing. requirements for operating expenses,
" capital.expenditures, and dividends will'be funded from these sources. A policy of requiring down payments
- and/or progress payments on large projects also provides a favorable effect on cash flow. A significant economic
downturn or a reduction in the number of long-term contracts acquired in the biopharm systems product line
- or in the Field Fabrication segment could lead to a contraction of the business, which would have an adverse

. effect on liquidity. If that were to occur, thé Company would restructure.its operations to insure that cash flow

from operatlons would be sufﬁment to maintain'an appropriate level of hqu1d1ty :

"Capltal expendrtures for 2003 2002 and 2001 were $2 774, 000 $4,754,000, and $4,904,000, respectlvely

substantial portion of capital expendrtures during the three years ended December 31, 2003 were made to
~ improve production efficiency and reduce throughput time. The level of capital expenditures for 2004 is
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initially planned at approxrmately $1, 500 OOO due to the reduced workload level resultmg from the lower

backlog at December.31, 2003, versus December 31, 2002. Antrcrpated expenditures are prrmarrly for criti- .

cal equipment to enhance capabrlmes maintain quahty, and improve efficiency. Depending on the level of
order entry and operating needs, it may be necessary to request authorization from the Board of Directors to
increase the level of expendltures \ :

- The Company has a’ $7 000,000 bank borrowing facility that expires May 31, 2004. As of December 31,
2003, there were no borrowmgs under the facility. The Company also has a $2 750,000 standby letter-of-
credit facility; and as of December 31, 2003, there were standby letters of credit totalmg $627,740 issued
under the facility and all will expire w1th1n one year. Management intends to renew the bank facility for bor-
‘rowing and letters of credit prior to the expiration date. Management believes the bank borrowrng facility can
be increased, if necessary, to prov1de additional llquldrty »

The Company has a long-term note outstandmg as -of December 31, 2003, in the principal amount of .

$729,750. The noteis repayable in quarterly installments, with the final 1nstallment due August 2,2005. The
note 1s secured by equrpment with a cost of $l 563,000.

The following tables contain disclosures concernmg certarn contractual oblrgatlons and commercral commit-

ments outstanding as of December 31, 2003:

‘ ‘ . . Payments Due by Period . »
‘Contractual Cash Obligations ' » Less than -3 . © 45 After 5-
“ ' o Total =~ 1 Year * Years * Years Years .
Long- term & short-term debt .............. § 729750 § 417,000 $§ 312,750 % - 'S -
Lines of credit...........ccooooiili i . - - - L : -
Capital lease obligations ..................... - - el : S -
Operating leases ... 1,031,491 272,563 661,541 ' ‘9’7,387 —
Purchase obligations .......... S - - - - -
Other long-term obligations................ 992,208 150,000 © 842,208 - : -
~ Total contractual cash obligations....... $ 2,753,449 §- 8393563 § 1,816,499 § 97387 § -
. - - Total ; Amounts of Commitment Expiration per Period
~ Other Commercial Commitments Amounts _ Less than 1-3 4-5 . After 5
. _‘~ : Committed 1 Year ' Years Years .-~ Years
" Line of credit avarlabrhty.......ﬁ..._ ......... $ 7,000,000 $§ 7,000,000 % @ - 3 - $ -
Standby letters.of credit...........cc....... S 627,740 - 627,740 = - , S -
Standby repurchase obligations .......... ' - . - - - -
Performance bonds.............c..ccoeevennnn, . 8,232,944 8,215,144 17,800 - ‘ -

Total commercial commitments.......... $ 15,860,684 § 15,842,884 § 17,800 § - -3 .-

Increases in the Company's pension benefit obligations, combined with investment market losses during 2002

and 2001, have negatively affected the funded status of the Company S pens1on plans. The requrred pensron
contrrbutron will be $4,3 15 ,500 durmg 2004.

Market risks relatmg to the Company's operatrons result prrmarrly frorn changes n forergn exchange ratesand

stainless steel prrces The Company periodically enters into foreign-exchange forward or spot contracts to
hedge the exposure to foreigh-currency-denominated purchase fransactions. . Forward contracts generally
have maturities of less than three months. The foreign-currency-denominated purchases were approximately
$400,000, $1,500,000, and $1,900,000 for 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively. There were no foreign
exchange forward contracts outstandmg or forergn currencies held as of December 31, 2003 or 2002. The

34




risk of 51gn1ﬁcant changes in stainless steel prlclng for large projects that extend over several months i 1s man-
aged by contracting for the stalnless steel at the time the project is obtained. ‘

Concentration of credit risk, w1th respect to recelvables is limited due to the large number of customers and
their dispersion across a wide geographic area. Management performs credit evaluations of all new customers
and periodically reviews the financial condition of existing customers. For large projects, down payments
and/or progress payments are generally required based on the dollar value of the project and customer credit-

worthiness. Foreign rece1vables are generally secured by an 1rrevocable letter of credit confirmed by a major
‘U.S. bank. .

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements, in conformity with generally accepted accounting prin-

ciples in the United States of America, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the

Consolidated Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting

period. Actual results may differ from those estimates. The critical accounting policies and estimates that
“involve a higher degree of Judgment and complex1ty are as follows:

Revenues from Long-Term Contracts _ Revenues from long -term contracts that involve only a few deliv-
erables and that meet the requirements of Statement of Position 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of
Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts," are recogmzed on the percentage-of-completion
method of accounting. For plant-fabricated projects, the percentage-of-completion is determined by comparing
total manufacturing hours incurred to date for each project to the estimated total manufacturing hours for each
project. For field-fabricated projects, the percentage-of-completion is determined by comparing the cost
incurred to date for each contract to the estimated total cost for each contract at completion. Estimates of total
manufacturing hours and total contract costs for relevant contracts are reviewed periodically and, if necessary,
updated to properly state the estimates. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in
the period in which such losses are determined. Cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncom-
pleted contracts arise when revenues have been recorded, but the amounts are not yet billable under the terms
of the contract. Such amounts are recoverable from customers upon various measures of performance, including -

_achievement of certain milestones, completion of specified units, or complet1on of the contract. Billings in
excess of costs-and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts arise as a result of advanced and progress
billings on contracts

The estimates of hours to complete and total cost to complete are developed by management based on the infor-
mation available for the projects and management's past experience with similar projects. In developing the
estimates, management considers project performance to date, job conditions, and other factors that may affect
performance during the completion of the contracts. These estimates are sub]ect to change due to many factors,

~ but management constantly monitors performance of each long-term contract to insure that the estimates are
current and accurately reflect the estimate of total hours to complete contracts or total cost to complete contracts.

Pensions — The Company has defined benefit pensmn plans covering substantlally all employees. The pen-
sion benefits are accounted for using actuarial methods based on numerous estimates, including employee
. turnover, mortality, retirement ages, expected return on plan assets, discount rates, and future salary increases.
The two most critical of these factors due to the1r potential impact on pension expense, are return on plan
assets and the dlscount rate:-

The return on plan assets represents a long-term assumption for the pension portfolios. that can impact pension.
expense and cash funding requirements. The long-term rate of return on assets is determined after consultation -
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with the investment advisor and the actuaries. The rate is intended to reflect the average rate of earnings

expected to be earned 'on the funds invested or to be invested to provide plan benefits. In determining the rate,
appropriate consideration is given to historical performance of the major asset classes held or anticipated to be
held by the plans and to current forecasts for future rates of return for those asset classes. Cash flow and
expenses are taken into consideration to the extent that the expected return would be affected by them.
Although plan investments are subject to short-term market volatility, the portfolios are well diversified and
closely managed.- The asset allocation as of December 31, 2003, consisted of 66% in equities, 32% in fixed
income, and 2% in cash and equivalents. This allocation is consistent with the long-term asset allocation for
~ the plans The long- -term rate of return of 8.0% was used to determine 2003 pension expense and 8.5% was used
- for the 2002 pension expense ‘The reduction from 8.5% to 8.0% 1ncreased 2003 pension expense by $184 000.

The discount rate is the interest rate used to dlscount estimated future beneﬁt payments that have been earned
to their present value as of the measurement date (December.3 l) The present value of future benefit payments
is the benefit obhgatron and it will impact the following year's pension expense. The discount rate used is
~based on indexes of interest rates for high-grade corporate bonds and can fluctuate considerably over periods
depending on the overall economic conditions and the impact of long-term corporate bond yields. Based on
current interest rate levels, the discount rate used to calculate the December 31, 2003, benefit obligations was
6.0%, while the discount rate used as of December 31, 2002, was 6.5%. The reductlon in the discount rate'used
in determining annual pension expense from 6.5% at December 31,2002, to 6.0% at December 31, 2003; will
have the effect of i 1ncreasrng pensmn expense for 2004 by approxrmately $434 OOO

Insurance Reserves '— The Company malntams a self-lnsurance program for the portion of its workers com-
pensation costs not covered by insurance. The Company utilizes a claims- paid workers' compensation insurance
policy with a large deductible. At the time a workers' compensation claim is filed, an estimate of the liability is
determined by the insurance carrier to settle the claim and is recorded by the Company. Monthly, the liability
for each claim is updated by the insurance carrier and changes are recorded by the Company. Since the liability
is an estimate, the ultimate liability may be more or less than accrued. The Company maintains frequent con-
- tact with the insurance carrier to exchange information to insure that reserves are updated on a timely basis.

The Company marntams a self—rnsurance program for healthcare costs for its employees not covered by a stop--
loss insurance policy.! Under the plan, liabilities are recognized for claims incurred (including claims incurred but
not yet reported). The reserves established for. medical expenses are estimated using historical claim experience
- and analysis provided by the third party administrator for the healthcare plan. The liability for claims is reviewed
monthly and is adjusted for known trends in healthcare costs and the evaluation by the thlrd party admmlstrator

The Company funds the benefit costs of the self-msured programs for workers' compensation and healthcare
claims on a pay-as-you-go basis. As of December 31, 2003, the reserve for workers' compensation and health-
care totaled $1,073,500. . o

Warranties — ‘The Company provides warranty reserves for product defects as they become known, as a sig-
nificant portion of the Company's sales are custom-fabricated products built to customer spec1ﬁcatlons

Warranty claims tend to occur shortly after completion and delivery of a project, and a reserve for estimated war-
ranty expense-is recorded at the time of notification by the customer within the one-year warranty period of
a defect in material or workmanship. Service department personnel handle all notifications from customers
concerning warranty claims, prepare an estimate of the cost to repair or replace the defective item, and establish
a reserve for each specific clalm Warranty claim reserves are reviewed monthly and reserves are adjusted to
properly reflect the remarnlng estimated cost to complete the repair. or replacement. ~

Inventorles - Thet Company s 1nventor1es are recorded at the lower of cost on a last-in, first-out ("LIFO") ‘
basis, or market The cost of subsrdlary 1nventor1es is determined on a first-i -in, first-out ("F IFO ') basis; and
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they are not srgmﬁcant to the consohdated 1nventory The LIF O method provrdes a better match of current
costs with current revenues in the staterment of income. Addrtronally, the LIFO ‘method may produce sub-
- stantial current tax savings, with the effect of inflation flowing through cost of sales. Interim financial results .

o are subject to final-year-end LIFO inventory amounts;.and due to the volatility of stainless steel prices and -

~ potential fluctuation in inventory quantities, 1t is drfﬁcult to accurately estimate the approprlate LIFO inven-
tory adjustment for 1nter1m perrods o ‘ « 3 .

o Deprecratlon —~ The Company provrdes for deprec1at10n expense for plant and equrpment using principally-.
the-double-declining-balance method for new items and the straight-line method for used-items, Under the

double- dechnrng-balance method, depreciation: expense is ¢harged to the statement of income on an accelerated

“basis and, at the same time, prov1des current tax savings. The present value of significant assets is périodically .
rev1ewed taking into consrderatlon the current and expected busmess condrtlons H1stor1ca11y, the Company
has not had any srgmﬁcant asset’ 1mpa1rments R

: Reserve for Doubtful Accounts - A reserve for doubtful accounts is estabhshed based upon specrﬁc mfor- '

mation which indicates that a reserve is appropnate Credit personnel perform a review of détailed accounts

receivable aging at each month end and review past-due accounts for indication that collection may be question-

. able due to disputes, mrsunderstandrngs and lack of ability to pay. The Company historically-has had relatrvely

- low bad-debt expense, and thrs isductoa thorough mvestrgatmn of new accounts and ongoing monitoring of
' _exrstmg accounts.

Recently Issued Accountmg Standards A

- Statement of F1nancra1 Accountmg Standards (SFAS) No. 148 "Accountmg for Stock Based Compensatron -
“Transition and Disclosure," was adopted during 2002. SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, "Accounting
for-Stock-Based Compensatlon to provide alternate methods ‘of transition for entities that voluntarlly change
to the fair-value-based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. - It also amends dis-
_closure provisions of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent annual and interim disclosure regarding the pro

" forma effécts on reported net income for stock-based: compensatron ‘The Company will continue to apply the

provisions of APB: Opinion No. 25, "Intrinsic Value,” in accountrng for stock-based awards. Disclosures
‘requiréd by SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No 148 are mcluded in Notes 1 and 8 of the Notes to Consohdated '

T Fmancral Statements. -

Effective Janvary 1, 2003 the Company adopted SFAS No 146 "Accountrng for Costs Assocrated w1th Ex1t '
or Disposal Activities." There was no effect on the Company S Consohdated Flnancral Statemerits as a result

o of such adoption..

: The Financial Accountrng Standards Board (FASB) 1ssued FASB Interpretatlon No. 46, “Consohdatlon of
- Variable Interest Entities," in January.2003. . Interpretation No. 46 is an interpretation of Accounting Research .
Bulletin No. 51, "Consohdated Financial Statements," and addresses consolidation by business enterprises of
variable interest entities — a-new term. Interpretation No. 46 (revrsed in Decémber 2003) will not have a finan-
cral statement Jimpact on the Company :

B - In April 2003 the FASB issued SFAS No 149 "Amendment of Statement 133 on Derlvatlve Instruments and

- Hedging Actwrtres " This Statement did not have an 1mpact on the Company s Consohdated Frnancral State-
ments. . ‘ r

"~ InMay 2003, the FASB 1ssued SFAS No. 150 ”Accountmg for Certam Fmancral Instruments with Charactenstlcs o

"~ of Both L1ab111t1es and Equity." Th1s Statement d1d not have an 1mpact on the Companys Consohdated
: Fmancral Statements < ,
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In December 2003, the FASB 1ssued SFAS No. 132-R; "Employers Disclosure About: Pensmns and Other
Post-Retirement Beneﬁts The Statement was effectlve for 2003 and the related disclosures have been
. included in Note 2 to the Company s Consohdated Fmanmal Statements :

‘Safe Harbor for Forward Lookmg Statements

Thls Management’s lDlscuss10n and Analysis of Operatmg Results and Financial Cond1t1on as well as the
" President's message on pages 2 and 3 of this Annual Report, contain certain statements that constitute "for-
ward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities thlgatlon Reform Act of 1995. |
Forward-looking statements provide current expectations of future events based on certain assumptions and *
include any statement that does not dlrectly relate to any historical or current fact. All statements regarding -
future performance, growth, sales and earnings projections, conditions, or developments are forward-looking
. statements. Words such as "anticipates," "believes,"” "intends," "expects " "may," "will," "should,"” "could,” .
"plans," "forecasts," "estimates," "predicts," "projects," "potentlal " "contmue " "outlook,"-and similar expres-.
sions may be 1ntended to 1dent1fy forward looking statements. E -
4 /
‘Actual future results may differ materially from. those descrlbed in the forward-looking statements ductoa
: vartety of factors, including the fact that the economy generally, and the dairy farm equipment, industrial
equipment, field- fabrlcatlon markets, and factors affecting the truckmg mdustry specifically are all currently
subject to uncertamty, making it d1fﬁcult to determine if past experience is a-good guide to the future. A
downturn in the Company's business segments could adversely affect the Company's revenues and results of
operations. Other factors affecting forward-looking statements, some of which are identified in the discussion:
relating to such forward-looking statements, include, but are not limited to, the following: specific economic
conditions in the food, darry, beverage, chemrcal pharmaceuttcal blotechnologlcal and other process industries, -
- and the dairy farm equipment market and the impact of such conditions on the Company's customers in such
* markets; the cyclical nature of some of the Company's markets; milk prices, feed costs, weather conditions, dairy
farm consohdatlon and other factors affecting the proﬁtabrhty of dairy farmers; the price of stalnless steel;
the hrghly competmve nature of the-markets for the Company's products, as, well as pricing pressures that
may result from such competitive conditions; business relationships with major customers and suppliers; the
“continued operation and viability of the Company's major customers; the Company's execution of internal per-

- formance plans; difficulties or delays in manufacturing; cost- reduct10n and productivity efforts; competing

technologies and difficulties in entering néw markets, both domestic and foreign; changes in product mix; .
. future levels of indebtedness and capital spending; clalms including, without limitation, warranty claims, ,
. product liability claims, charges or dispute resolutions; abllrty of suppliers to provide materials as needed and =
- the Company's. abrhty to recover any price increases for materials and product pricing; the Company's ability
to attract and retain key technical and other personnel; labor relations; the failure of customers to make timely
~ payment; any inadequacy of the Company’s intellectual property protectlon or the potential for third-party"
claims of° mfrmgement global economic¢ factors, including currency exchange rates; general. gconomic con-
ditions, including interest rates, the rate of mflat1on and .commercial and consumer conﬁdence energy prices;
: govemmental laws and regulatrons affecting domestic and foreign operations, including tax - obligations;
changes in accounting standards; worldwide political stability; the effécts of terrorist activities and resulting
political or economic mstablhty, including U.S.. military. action overseas; and the effect of acquisitions,
divestitures, restructurmgs product withdrawals, and other unusual events.. .
The Company caut10ns the reader that these lists of: cautronary statements and risk factors may not be exhaus-
tive. The Company expressly disclaims any obligation or.undertaking to release publicly any updates or
_ 'changes to these forward- lookmg statements that may be made to reﬂect any future events or cncumstances
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